SYSTEMIC ALTERATION OF DEFENSE-RELATED GENE TRANSCRIPT LEVELS IN MYCORRHIZAL BEAN PLANTS INFECTED WITH *RHIZOCTONIA SOLANI*

by

Christopher Guillon

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment

of the requirements of the degree of Master of Science

Department of Plant Science

McGill University, Montreal

Quebec, Canada

© Christopher Guillon August, 2001



National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Acquisitions et services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

Your file Votre rélérence

Our file Notre référence

The author has granted a nonexclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, distribute or sell copies of this thesis in microform, paper or electronic formats.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de cette thèse sous la forme de microfiche/film, de reproduction sur papier ou sur format électronique.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

0-612-78884-9

Canadä

ABSTRACT

A time course study was conducted to monitor disease development and expression of the defense-related genes phenylalanine ammonia-lyase (PAL), chalcone synthase (CHS), chalcone isomerase (CHI), and hydroxyproline-rich glycoprotein (HRGP) in bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) plants colonized by the arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungus *Glomus intraradices*, and post-infected with the soil-borne pathogen *Rhizoctonia solani*. Pre-colonization of bean plants by the AM fungus did not significantly reduce the severity of rot symptoms. RNA blot analysis revealed a systemic increase in transcript levels of the four defense-related genes in response to *R. solani* infection. On the other hand, pre-colonization of bean plants with *G. intraradices* elicited no change in PAL, CHS and CHI transcripts, but an increase of HRGP transcripts in leaves was detected. A differential and systemic alteration in the expression of all four defense genes was observed in AM beans post-infected with *R. solani*. Depending on the time after infection with *R. solani* and the tissue examined, varying responses from stimulation, suppression, to no change in transcript levels were detected.

RÉSUMÉ

Une étude a été réalisée afin d'évaluer l'impact du champignon endomycorhizien arbusculaire Glomus intraradices sur la réduction de la pourriture racinaire causée par le champignon pathogène Rhizoctonia solani chez des plants de haricots (Phaseolus vulgaris L.). La pré-colonization des plants de haricot par le G. intraradices n'a pas significativement réduit la sévérité des symptômes de la maladie. L'étude de l'expression de gènes codant pour les enzymes de défense phenylalanine ammonia-lyase (PAL), chalcone synthase (CHS), chalcone isomerase (CHI), and hydroxyproline-rich glycoprotein (HRGP), effectuée à l'aide de l'analyse de transfert d'ARN sur membrane avec hybridization à des marqueurs moléculaires désignés (RNA blot analysis), a révélé une augmentation systémique de l'expression de ces quatre gènes dans les différentes parties de la plante en réponse à l'infection par le R. solani ainsi que chez les plantes mycorhizées et subséquemment infectées par le R. solani. La pré-colonization des plants d'haricot par le G. intraradices n'a pas modifié l'expression des gènes codant pour PAL, CHS et CHI, mais une augmentation de l'expression du gène codant pour HRGP a été détectée dans les parties foliaires de la plante. L'analyse détaillée de l'expression de ces gènes en fonctions des différents traitements expérimentaux, parties de la plante étudiées (racines, tiges, et feuilles), et temps de récolte (1, 3, et 5 jours après l'infection par le R. solani) a révélé des réponses variées (stimulation, suppression ou absence d'effet pour l'expression des différents gènes étudiés).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to take this opportunity to thank my supervisor, Dr. Suha Jabaji-Hare, for her guidance and support. I would especially like to thank her for being a mentor to me during my entire time at Macdonald, beginning when I was a first year undergraduate student in her class.

I would also like to acknowledge my committee members, Dr. C. Hamel, Dr. T. Paultiz, Dr S. Sparace and Dr. M. St-Arnaud, for the technical expertise they provided in answering my numerous questions, and the Natural Science and Engineering Research Council of Canada for their financial support.

Many thanks to all the individuals in Dr. Hare's laboratory, which we affectionately call the Funlab, especially Martin, Greg, Carole and Diane. Their friendship and comradely made our laboratory more than a place of research, but also a home away from home.

Finally I would like to thank Corina Hay and my family for their unfailing support and encouragement throughout my Master's degree.

ABSTRACTi
RÉSUMÉii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS iii
TABLE OF CONTENTSiv
LIST OF TABLES vii
LIST OF FIGURES viii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONSix
CHAPTER I1
Introduction1
1.1 General introduction1
1.2 Rationale1
1.3 Hypotheses
1.4 Objectives
CHAPTER II4
Literature review4
2.1 Disease resistance4
2.1.1 Phytoalexins4
2.1.2 Hydrolytic enzymes5
2.1.3 Hydroxyproline-rich glycoproteins
2.1.4 Polygalacturonase inhibiting proteins
2.1.5 Induced disease resistance
2.2 Effect of the AM symbiosis on disease severity

TABLE OF CONTENTS

2.2.1 Effect of the AM symbiosis on Rhizoctonia solani9
2.3 Mechanisms involved in disease reduction
2.3.1 Mechanism I: Improved nutritional status10
2.3.2 Mechanism II: Alteration of the microbial community10
2.3.3Mechanism III: Alteration of plant defense mechanisms11
2.3.3.1 Defense responses of host roots to AM fungal colonization
2.3.3.2 Cellular localization of defense alterations due to the AM symbiosis13
2.3.3.3 Mycorrhizal specific hydrolytic enzymes
2.3.3.4 Defense responses of AM plants infected with fungal pathogens or
elicitors14
CHAPTER III19
Materials and methods19
3.1 Fungal material and inoculum preparation19
3.2 Plant material and growth conditions
3.3 Plant inoculation
3.4 Evaluation of disease and root colonization
3.5 Experimental design and statistical analyses
3.6 RNA extraction and blot analysis23
3.7 cDNA probes25
CHAPTER IV27
Results27
4.1 G. intraradices and R. solani colonization of bean roots
4.2 Severity of hypocotyl rot

4.3 Accumulation of defense-related gene transcripts
4.3.1 Root tissue
4.3.2 Stem tissue
4.3.3 Leaf tissue
Chapter V41
Discussion41
5.1 Fungal colonization and disease severity41
5.2 Defense response of bean plants to <i>R. solani</i> 41
5.3 Accumulation of defense-related gene transcripts in response to the AM
symbiosis45
5.4 AM induced alterations of plant defense responses during infection by R. solani
Chapter VI
Concluding comments
REFERENCES

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. cDNA hybridization probes used in the analysis of transcript levels in bean
tissue
Table 2. Effect of pre-colonization by Glomus intraradices and post-infection by
Rhizoctonia solani on fungal root colonization
Table 3. Effect of post-infection by Rhizoctonia solani on the percentage of bean plants
showing each ranking on the disease severity scale

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1	. Effect of pre-colonization by <i>Glomus intraradices</i> and post-infection by	
Rhi	izoctonia solani on HRGP, PAL, CHS, CHI and H1 transcript levels in the root	
tiss	sue of beans	34

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AG	Anastomosis group
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
CHI	Chalcone isomerase
CHS	Chalcone synthase
CHT	Chitinase
DAI	Days after infection
GLU	Glucanase
HRGP	Hydroxyproline-rich glycoprotein
ISR	Induced systemic resistance
PAL	Phenylalanine ammonia-lyase
PAR	Photosynthetically active radiation
PGIP	Polygalacturonase inhibiting protein
PGPR	Plant growth promoting rhizobacteria
SA	Salicylic acid
SAR	Systemic acquired resistance
SSC	Saline sodium citrate
SDS	Sodium dodecyl sulphate

ix

CHAPTER I

Introduction

1.1 General introduction

Arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungi form symbiotic associations with the roots of vascular plants, and based on fossil evidence, this type of symbiosis has existed for approximately 460 million years (Redecker *et al.*, 2000). As a result of the long evolutionary history of the AM symbiosis, it is estimated that 95% of vascular plants belong to families that can form AM symbioses (Trappe and Schenck, 1982). The association benefits plant health most notably by enhancing soil nutrient uptake (Hayman, 1983; Smith and Gianinazzi-Pearson, 1988), and by reducing the severity of diseases caused by soil-borne pathogens (Dehne, 1982; St-Arnaud *et al.*, 1995a).

1.2 Rationale

Although the reduction in disease severity caused by the AM symbiosis has been extensively studied in numerous plant-pathogen combinations (for reviews see: Dehne, 1982; Perrin, 1990; St-Arnaud *et al.*, 1994), the cellular and molecular mechanisms responsible for this phenomenon are not well understood partly due to the complexity of the biological system. Numerous mechanisms have been proposed to explain the bioprotection of plants by AM fungi, with the majority of research focusing on the improved nutrient status of the plant host, alteration of the soil microbial community and a stimulation or alteration of plant defense responses by AM fungi which allows the plant to more effectively respond to a subsequent pathogenic attack. Among these hypotheses, the latter has received considerable attention (for reviews see: Linderman, 1994; St-Arnaud et al., 1995a; Azcón-Aguilar and Barea, 1996; Blee and Anderson, 2000). In the past decade, the effect of the AM symbiosis on the plant's defense responses during a pathogenic infection has been investigated by measuring the amount of defense-related compounds, enzymes or transcripts encoding for plant defense-related processes in the root tissues of AM plants at one time-period after a pathogenic infection (Benhamou et al., 1994; Pozo et al., 1996; Cordier et al., 1998; Dassi et al., 1998; Mohr et al., 1998; Pozo et al., 1999). Only a few reports have assessed the plant's defense responses over several time points (Wyss et al., 1991; Slezack et al., 1999; Guenoune et al., 2001), and none examined the defense responses in tissues other than the roots. Therefore, to determine if the AM symbiosis has an impact on the plant's defense responses during a pathogenic infection, it is crucial not only to assess the plant's defense responses at several time points during the initial stages of infection by the pathogen, but also to determine whether these responses are expressed in plant tissues distant from the site of AM or pathogen inoculation such as the stems or leaves.

Among all the mycorrhizal plant-pathogen interactions that have been investigated, to our knowledge no study has been undertaken to investigate whether the AM symbiosis can reduce root and hypocotyl rot of common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) caused by *Rhizoctonia solani* Kühn. Bean is commonly used as a model plant to study plant defense responses during pathogenic infections because its defense responses to numerous biotic and abiotic factors have been well characterized (Collinge and Slusarenko, 1987; Hahlbrock and Scheel, 1989), and several defense-related genes of bean have been cloned

and characterized for use as hybridization probes to measure transcript levels (Dixon and Harrison, 1990; Dixon *et al.*, 1991). Thus, *P. vulgaris* makes an excellent model plant to study AM-induced plant defense responses.

1.3 Hypotheses

It is hypothesized that the AM symbiosis reduces the severity of root and hypocotyl rot caused by *R. solani*, and that this protection is due to the systemic stimulation of the plant's defense responses as a result of root colonization by *G. intraradices*. These two hypotheses formed the basis for the undertaking of this thesis.

1.4 Objectives

Due to the limited amount of knowledge on the spatial and temporal effects of the AM symbiosis on plant defense responses during a pathogenic infection, and the lack of information on the effects of the AM symbiosis on disease caused by *R. solani*, the objectives of this thesis were to:

- Determine how arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) bean plants respond to the pathogen *R*. solani, and if the symbiotic association affords the plant any protection against the pathogen.
- 2. Determine whether levels of transcripts of selected defense-related genes in bean plants are altered due to the AM symbiosis.
- 3. Determine how AM bean plants respond to *R. solani* infection by assessing the spatial and temporal accumulation of transcripts of selected defense-related genes.

CHAPTER II

Literature review

2.1 Disease resistance

Disease resistance in plants results in the inability of pathogenic organisms to successfully infect the plant which results in reduced disease symptoms (Van Loon, 1997). In most plant-pathogen interactions, resistance is associated with a rapid deployment of a complex defense response that includes chemical compounds such as antimicrobial phytoalexins, hydrolytic enzymes and structural barriers such as lignin and hydroxyproline-rich glycoproteins. With few exceptions, activation of the plant's defense mechanisms due to infection by a pathogen involves the transcriptional activation of defense-related genes (Collinge and Slusarenko, 1987; Dixon and Harrison, 1990). Numerous plant models have been used to investigate the plant defense responses at the molecular and genetic level. Plant defense mechanisms in bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris*) have been especially well characterized, and a wealth of information on the activation of defense responses due to abiotic elicitors and pathogenic infection is available.

2.1.1 Phytoalexins

Plants possess a variety of mechanisms to defend themselves against pathogens. One method is the production of low-molecular-weight antimicrobial compounds known as phytoalexins (Kuc, 1995). Phaseolin, a major phytoalexin of *P. vulgaris* (Collinge and Slusarenko, 1987) is synthesized through the phenylpropanoid pathway. The first committed step of the phenylpropanoid pathway is the conversion of L-phenylalanine to

cinnamic acid which is catalyzed by phenylalanine ammonia-lyase (PAL) (Dixon, 1986). Aside from being utilized for the production of phytoalexins, cinnamic acid can be utilized in the production of lignin (Vance *et al.*, 1980; Hahlbrock and Scheel, 1989) and salicylic acid, a signal molecule involved in regulated plant defense responses (Reymond and Farmer, 1998). Other well-characterized enzymes in the phenylpropanoid pathway are chalcone synthase (CHS) and chalcone isomerase (CHI) (Lamb *et al.*, 1983; Dixon and Harrison, 1990). These enzymes catalyze the first and second committed steps of the flavonoid/isoflavonoid branch of the phenylpropanoid pathway, respectively (Dixon, 1986). Enzyme activity and transcript levels of PAL, CHS and CHI have been observed to dramatically increase during pathogenic infections and after elicitor treatment in bean (Ryder *et al.*, 1984; Edwards *et al.*, 1985; Lawton and Lamb, 1987; Mehdy and Lamb, 1987; Ryder *et al.*, 1987).

2.1.2 Hydrolytic enzymes

Hydrolytic enzymes, such as glucanases and chitinases are believed to inhibit colonization of plant tissue by the pathogen through the degradation of fungal cell walls (Mauch *et al.*, 1988; Bowles, 1990). Levels of chitinase and glucanase transcripts have been observed to rapidly increase in bean cell suspension cultures and whole plants due to treatment with an elicitor, infection by pathogens such as *Colletotrichum lindemuthianum* (Sacc. & Magnus) or wounding (Hedrick *et al.*, 1988; Edington *et al.*, 1991).

2.1.3 Hydroxyproline-rich glycoproteins

Plants can defend themselves against pathogens through the deposition of proteins, such as hydroxyproline-rich glycoproteins (HRGPs) within their cell walls (Collinge and Slusarenko, 1987; Dixon and Harrison, 1990). The amino acid sequence of HRGPs contains repeated hydroxyproline motifs and the proteins are believed to strengthen the cell wall through intermolecular cross linkages (Varner and Lin, 1989). HRGPs have also been implicated in immobilizing pathogens through electrostatic interactions or by providing sites for lignin deposition (Hammerschmidt *et al.*, 1984; Showalter, 1993). In bean hypocotyls, the levels of HRGP transcripts rapidly accumulated due to infection by *C. lindemuthianum*, wounding or treatment of a cell culture with an elicitor (Corbin *et al.*, 1987; Templeton *et al.*, 1990; Wycoff *et al.*, 1995).

2.1.4 Polygalacturonase inhibiting proteins

Plants may also respond to pathogens by producing proteins which directly inhibit the mechanisms that pathogens use to invade the plant. Necrotic pathogens such as *Rhizoctonia solani* produce polygalacturonases that are involved in pathogenesis due to their ability to degrade plant cell wall carbohydrates (Van Etten *et al.*, 1967). In response, plants such as *P. vulgaris* synthesize polygalacturonase inhibiting proteins (PGIPs) whose transcript levels have been observed to rapidly increase in tissues infected with a pathogen (Nuss *et al.*, 1996; Devoto *et al.*, 1997). PGIPs not only inhibit the activity of polygalacturonases (Cervone *et al.*, 1987), but cause an increase in the levels of partially hydrolyzed plant-cell well carbohydrates called oligalacturonides (De Lorenzo *et al.*,

1994). These oligalacturonides, produced through the action of PGIPs, may act as elicitors of additional defense mechanisms (De Lorenzo *et al.*, 1994).

2.1.5 Induced disease resistance

As mentioned in the preceding sections, infection by a pathogen can activate a wide variety of plant defense responses to limit the severity of disease caused by the pathogen. Induced resistance is the phenomenon in which a plant can exhibit an enhanced resistance response to pathogens as the result of prior stimulation of resistance mechanisms (Kuc, 1982; Van Loon, 1997; Van Loon et al., 1998). There are two classes of induced resistance, systemic acquired resistance (SAR) and induced systemic resistance (ISR) (Hammerschmidt, 1999). SAR has been heavily studied and is the subject of numerous reviews (Ward et al., 1991; Ryals et al., 1994; Ryals et al., 1996; Sticher et al., 1997). SAR in plants develops in response to infection by necrotizing pathogens, is associated with the production of pathogenesis-related proteins (PR), and usually involves a faster and greater activation of defense-related genes after infection of induced plants (Van Loon and Van Strien, 1999). A large body of evidence suggests that salicylic acid (SA) plays a key role in both SAR and disease resistance (Klessig and Malamy, 1994; Reymond and Farmer, 1998) and it is believed that SA is likely the translocated signal that triggers SAR in distant plant organs (Ryals et al., 1996).

Induced systemic resistance (ISR) has been much less studied than SAR and generally is the result of root colonization by beneficial plant growth promoting rhizobacteria (PGPR) such as Pseudomonads (van Peer *et al.*, 1991; Liu *et al.*, 1995a; Liu *et al.*, 1995b). ISR is

regulated not by salicylic acid (Pieterse *et al.*, 1996; Van Wees *et al.*, 1997) but by jasmonates and ethylene (Van Loon *et al.*, 1998). In contrast to SAR, rapid and substantial accumulation of PR proteins does not generally occur upon challenge of a PGPR-protected plants with a pathogen (Hoffland *et al.*, 1995; van Wees *et al.*, 1999). However, levels of phytoalexins have been observed to be at higher levels in PGPR protected plants challenged with a pathogen as compared to challenged non-protected plants (van Peer *et al.*, 1991).

2.2 Effect of the AM symbiosis on disease severity

Like PGPRs, another type of beneficial non-pathogenic soil microbes are arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungi, which form symbiotic associations with plant roots and can also modulate disease resistance (St-Arnaud *et al.*, 1995a). The benefits of the AM symbiosis are not limited to reduced disease severity, but include enhanced soil nutrient uptake most notably, phosphorus (Hayman, 1983; Smith and Gianinazzi-Pearson, 1988), increased drought tolerance (Nelsen and Safir, 1982), and improved soil structure (Sutton and Sheppard, 1976).

The ability of the AM symbiosis to affect the severity of disease caused by soil-borne pathogens has received considerable attention. The most recent comprehensive review of the literature reported that in approximately 65% of the 136 plant-soil-borne pathogen models studied, presence of the AM symbiosis reduced disease severity caused by soil-borne pathogens, but generally caused an increase in disease severity caused by foliar pathogens (St-Arnaud *et al.*, 1995a).

2.2.1 Effect of the AM symbiosis on Rhizoctonia solani

Rhizoctonia solani Kühn is a common soil-borne pathogen that causes damping-off of young seedlings, and hypocotyl and root rot in a variety of plant species (Howard *et al.*, 1994). Although several studies have investigated the role of the AM symbiosis in reducing the severity of diseases caused by *R. solani*, the results are not clear-cut. In pointsettia (Stewart and Pfleger, 1977) and *Brassica napus* L. (Iqbal *et al.*, 1977), the presence of the AM symbiosis decreased disease caused by *R. solani*. In contrast, the AM symbiosis did not decrease hypocotyl rot severity in soybeans (Zambolim and Schenck, 1983) nor did it affect the course and extent of root colonization by *R. solani* (Wyss *et al.*, 1991).

2.3 Mechanisms involved in disease reduction

Numerous mechanisms have been postulated to explain how the AM symbiosis can reduce disease severity caused by soil-borne pathogens, with the majority of research focusing on three proposed mechanisms: (i) increased nutritional status of AM plants, (ii) alteration of the soil's microbial community and (iii) alteration of the plant's defense mechanisms by the AM fungus (for reviews see: Perrin, 1990; Jalali and Jalali, 1991; Hooker *et al.*, 1994; Linderman, 1994; St-Arnaud *et al.*, 1995a; Azcón-Aguilar and Barea, 1996).

2.3.1 Mechanism I: Improved nutritional status

Increased nutritional status of AM plants was one of the first mechanisms proposed to explain the reduction in disease severity (Davis and Menge, 1980; Graham and Menge, 1982). The AM symbiosis would increase the plant's nutritional status resulting in a healthier and more vigorous plant better able to resist or tolerate an infection by a pathogen than a non-mycorrhizal plant (Linderman, 1994). Davis and Menge (1980) showed that the severity of Phytophthora root rot of citrus was equally reduced due to increased phosphorus fertilization and colonization of the roots by the mycorrhizal fungus *Glomus fasciculatus* (Thaxter) Gerd. and Trappe. However, recent studies have clearly demonstrated that the reduction in disease severity caused by various soil-borne pathogens could not always be attributed to the increase in phosphorus nutrition caused by the AM association (Caron *et al.*, 1986a; St-Arnaud *et al.*, 1994; St-Arnaud *et al.*, 1997).

2.3.2 Mechanism II: Alteration of the microbial community

The effect of the AM symbiosis on the soil's microbial community has received considerable attention. Meyer and Linderman (1986), and Secilia and Bagyaraj (1987) have shown that AM fungi caused quantitative changes in the levels of soil microbes as well as qualitative changes in the make-up of the types of organisms in the soil microbial community. In addition to the gross changes in the soil microbial community, the effects of the AM association on populations of specific soil-borne pathogens have also been illustrated on several occasions. Propagule levels of *Pythium ultimum* Trow (Kaye *et al.*, 1983), *Aphanomyces euteiches* Drechs (Rosendahl, 1985) and *Fusarium oxysporum* Schl.

(St-Arnaud *et al.*, 1997) decreased in the soil of AM plants versus non-AM plants. A study looking at the interaction between the AM fungus *G. intraradices* and the pathogen *F. oxysporum* was conducted using *in vitro* AM carrot root cultures (St-Arnaud *et al.*, 1995b). Conidial germination of *F. oxysporum* increased in the presence of *G. intraradices*, which led the authors to conclude that the substantial increase in conidial germination of the pathogen may result in an overall depletion of propagules in the soil. This proposed mechanism was recently investigated in more detail by Filion *et al.* (1999) who showed that compounds produced by the extraradical mycelium of the AM fungus *G. intraradices* directly influenced the growth of *F. oxysporum* and *Pseudomonas chlororaphis* (Guignard & Sauvageau).

2.3.3 Mechanism III: Alteration of plant defense mechanisms

Alteration of the plant's defense responses due to root colonization by AM fungi, which may allow the plant to more effectively respond to a pathogenic infection, is a third mechanism proposed to explain the bioprotective effect of the AM symbiosis (Rosendahl, 1985; Caron *et al.*, 1986b; St-Arnaud *et al.*, 1994; Niemira *et al.*, 1996). Much of the initial work has focused on how colonization of the roots by AM fungi effects the plant's defense responses by altering the levels of phytoalexins, activities of defense enzymes and defense gene transcript levels. More recent work has looked at how the AM symbiosis can affect the plant's defense responses during a pathogenic infection. The information provided below is a brief overview of some of the published studies. This subject has been described in more detail in several recent reviews (Dumas-Gaudot *et al.*, 1996; Gianinazzi-Pearson et al., 1996; Morandi, 1996; Blee and Anderson, 2000; Lambais, 2000; Shaul et al., 2000).

2.3.3.1 Defense responses of host roots to AM fungal colonization

Despite the intimate plant-fungal contact in the mycorrhizal symbiosis, strong induction of plant defense responses do not occur as they do during plant-pathogen interactions (Gianinazzi-Pearson et al., 1996). Recent studies have shown that colonization of P. vulgaris by the AM fungi Glomus mosseae (Nicol and Gerd.) and G. intraradices generally do not cause an increase in the accumulation of defense-related gene transcripts such as chitinase, glucanase, PAL and HRGP (Blee and Anderson, 1996; Mohr et al., 1998). However, several other examples demonstrated that mycorrhizal associations can elicit weak defense responses during the initial stages of colonization by the AM fungus, usually within the first two weeks after inoculation, but as colonization progresses the responses are suppressed. During the formation of the AM symbiosis in leek (Allium porrum L.) roots (Spanu et al., 1989a), and P. vulgaris roots (Lambais and Mehdy, 1993), chitinase activities increased during the initial stages of colonization by the AM fungus, but as colonization progressed enzymatic activities were suppressed. In addition, activation followed by suppression of the components of the phenylpropanoid pathway such PAL and CHI transcripts levels and enzyme activities have been observed in alfalfa roots (Medicago sativa L.) colonized by G. intraradices (Volpin et al., 1994; Volpin et al., 1995). Equally, enzymes involved in cell wall strengthening such as peroxidase and catalase have been affected in a similar manner (Spanu and Bonfante-Fasolo, 1988; Blilou et al., 2000). These findings indicate that despite the mutualistic character of AM

associations, the host plant recognizes the symbiotic fungi and may react at least initially by activating some defense mechanisms. However this response tends to be weak and transient (Gianinazzi-Pearson *et al.*, 1996).

2.3.3.2 Cellular localization of defense alterations due to the AM symbiosis

Aside from the overall changes in defense responses in the entire AM root system, studies have been conducted to observe the effects of the AM symbiosis at the cellular level. Lambais and Mehdy (1995) observed that expression of chitinase and glucanase genes were systemically suppressed in the roots of bean plants colonized by *G. intraradices*, but were locally enhanced in cortical cells containing arbuscules. Similarly, in mycorrhizal alfalfa and bean, levels of transcripts coding for genes in the phenylpropanoid pathway such as PAL and CHS have been shown to be localized only in cells containing arbuscules (Harrison and Dixon, 1994; Blee and Anderson, 1996). In corn roots colonized by the AM fungus *Glomus versiforme* (Karst) Berch., it was found that HRGP transcripts only accumulated in root cells colonized by the AM fungus (Balestrini *et al.*, 1997). As well as the effects on the entire root system, colonization of roots by AM fungi causes a localized activation of defense related genes specifically in cells containing arbuscules (Blee and Anderson, 2000).

2.3.3.3 Mycorrhizal specific hydrolytic enzymes

Several researchers have taken a different approach to studying the effects of the AM symbiosis on plant defense responses. Instead of measuring total activity of a specific enzyme or the transcript levels of a particular defense-related gene, they have looked at

the production of new isoforms of defense-related enzymes. Colonization of pea (*Pisum sativum* L.) roots by the mycorrhizal fungus *G. mosseae* has been shown to induce the production of a new acidic chitinase isoform that was not detected in the roots of non-AM peas (Dumas-Gaudot *et al.*, 1994; Dassi *et al.*, 1996). Similarly, colonization of tomato (*Lycopersicon esculentum* Mill.) roots by *G. mosseae* induced the production of new glucanase and chitinase isoforms (Pozo *et al.*, 1996; Pozo *et al.*, 1999). The implications of the AM specific hydrolases to bioprotection are discussed in a later section.

2.3.3.4 Defense responses of AM plants infected with fungal pathogens or elicitors

Only a limited number of studies have investigated the defense responses of AM plants infected with a pathogen. These works have shed light on whether or not the AM symbiosis causes an alteration of the plant's defense responses which would allow the plant to more effectively respond to a pathogenic infection.

Published reports have provided conflicting evidence indicating that the AM symbiosis can either cause an increase, decrease or no change in the plant's defense response to a pathogenic attack. For instance, Dehne and Schönbeck (1979), in an early study investigating the effects of the AM symbiosis on the plant's defense response during a pathogenic infection, found that AM tomato (*L. esculentum*) infected with *F. oxysporum* had higher PAL activity than non-AM plants infected with the pathogen. In a cytochemical study investigating holly (*Ilex crenata* Thunb.) colonized by *G. mosseae* and post-infected with the pathogen *Thielaviopsis basicola* (Berk. &Br.) Fr., it was found that AM plants produced wound structures at a faster rate and tended to compartmentalize

the pathogen more rapidly than non-AM plants infected with the pathogen (Wick and Moore, 1984). Similarly, mycorrhizal Ri T-DNA transformed carrot roots infected for one week with F. oxysporum had extensive defense-like host cell wall reactions and accumulation of phenolic compounds at the sites of fungal penetration and in intercellular spaces, which were not seen in non-mycorrhizal roots infected with F. oxysporum (Benhamou et al., 1994). The authors suggested that colonization of the roots by the AM fungus may sensitize the plant to respond more rapidly to a microbial attack (Benhamou et al., 1994). In a study investigating proteolytic activities in the root tissue of AM pea plants infected with A. eutiches it was found that total protease activity was generally higher in AM plants versus non-AM roots, 10 days after infection with the pathogen (Slezack et al., 1999). As mentioned in section 2.3.3.2, colonization of tomato by an AM fungus induced the production of new isoforms of cell wall hydrolases. Interestingly, Pozo et al. (1999) demonstrated that 2 basic isoforms of glucanase were only present in tomato plants colonized by G. mosseae and subsequently infected with Phytophthora parasitica Dastur var. nicotianae (Breda de Haan) Tucker and were absent in non-AM plants infected with the pathogen. The authors suggested that the AM induced isoforms of cell wall hydrolases may help plants respond to an invading pathogen either by their hydrolytic ability to degrade the pathogen's cell wall or by their ability to release elicitors that allow the plant's defense system to be quickly activated compared to non-AM plants (Pozo et al., 1996; Pozo et al., 1999).

In contrast, other studies have shown that defense responses in plants during a pathogenic infection are actively suppressed as a result of the AM symbiosis, and it has been

speculated that the suppression may be mediated by defense suppressor molecules or through the involvement of plant hormones. In tobacco, colonization by the AM fungus *G. intraradices* caused a suppression in the levels of a basic chitinase, and this suppression was maintained even after application of a chemical elicitor of defense responses (David *et al.*, 1998). It was proposed that the suppression was due to a plantmediated factor potentially a plant hormone. A more detailed study by Guenoune *et al.* (2001) found that in alfalfa dual inoculated with the AM fungus *G. mosseae* and the pathogen *R. solani*, mRNA levels of chalcone isomerase and isoflavone reductase, as well as peroxidase enzyme activity in the root tissue were suppressed in comparison to non-AM alfalfa infected with the pathogen. The authors speculated that the absence of a defense response in AM plants infected with the pathogen may be the result of a suppressor molecule produced by the AM fungus.

Other researchers have found that the AM symbiosis causes no alteration of defense responses. Wyss *et al.* (1991) found that in soybean (*Glycine max* L.) plants pre-colonized with the AM fungus *G. mosseae* and post-inoculated with the pathogen *R. solani*, levels of the phytoalexin glyceollin and the pattern of accumulation in the root tissue, were similar to those observed for non-AM plants inoculated with the pathogen. Two recent studies have shown that levels of defense-related proteins or transcripts were unchanged in AM plants compared to non-AM plants during a pathogenic infection. Chitinase activity and transcript levels were the same in non-AM and AM bean colonized by *G.mosseae* and post-infected with the pathogen *Fusarium solani* (Mart.) Sacc. for one week (Mohr *et al.*, 1998). Also, levels of four pathogenesis-related proteins were

generally unchanged in tomato roots colonized by *G. mosseae* and post-infected with the pathogen *P. parasitica* for one week compared to non-AM plants infected with the pathogen (Dassi *et al.*, 1998).

Induced systemic resistance (ISR) by mycorrhizal fungi against pathogens has been demonstrated in only one study in which a split-root system technique was used (Cordier et al., 1998). Formation of an AM symbiosis as the result of colonization of tomato roots by G. mosseae induced not only localized but also systemic resistance against P. parasitica. The authors also showed that the ISR was characterized by large reductions in root damage and in *P. parasitica* development in non-mycorrhizal root tissues of mycorrhizal root systems. This protection was correlated with the accumulation of PR-1a pathogenesis-related protein and induction of plant cell wall defense responses such as the deposition of callose and pectins (Cordier et al., 1998). In contrast, to the systemic protection observed in the root system by Cordier et al. (1998), Shaul et al. (1999), utilizing an abiotic elicitor based system, observed an opposite phenomenon in the leaves of AM tobacco plants. Protein and gene transcript accumulation of two pathogenesisrelated proteins was lower and the accumulation was delayed in AM leaf tissue in comparison to the leaves from non-AM plants after treatment with an elicitor. The authors suggested that the differences in defense responses may be caused by AM induced alteration of plant hormones (Shaul et al., 1999).

In summary, there is continued debate on whether or not the AM symbiosis alters plant defense mechanisms that would result in some form of induced resistance to pathogens. Some have suggested that the reduction in disease observed in AM plants is due to an alteration of plant defense mechanisms (Dehne and Schönbeck, 1979; Benhamou *et al.*, 1994; Cordier *et al.*, 1998). Others have found that the AM symbiosis does not result in a more pronounced defense response during a pathogenic interaction (Wyss *et al.*, 1991; Dassi *et al.*, 1998), while evidence from a third group of researchers have found that defense mechanisms are not stimulated but rather suppressed as a result of the AM symbiosis during a pathogenic infection (Guenoune *et al.*, 2001).

CHAPTER III

Materials and methods

3.1 Fungal material and inoculum preparation

A highly pathogenic *Rhizoctonia solani* Kühn isolate (A76 belonging to AG-4) was kindly provided by Marc Cubeta, Department of Plant Pathology, North Carolina State University, NC. The inoculum of *R. solani* was produced on oat kernels according to the method of Cardoso and Echandi (1987) and kept at 4 °C. The inoculum of the arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) fungus *Glomus intraradices* Schenck & Smith (DAOM 181602) consisted of axenically-produced spores obtained from an *in-vitro* carrot root (*Daucus carota* L.) culture as described in St-Arnaud *et al.* (1996). Briefly, Ri T-DNA-transformed carrot roots were grown on a minimal (M) medium according to the method of Bécard and Fortin (1988), but solidified with 0.4 % (w/v) gellan gum (ICN Biochemical, Cleveland, Ohio, USA) instead of 1% (w/v) bacto-agar (modified M medium) and colonized by *G. intraradices.* The dual cultures were grown in the dark at 28°C for 2-5 months. Spores were extracted from the media by dissolving the media with 10 mM sodium citrate buffer (pH 6.0) at 30°C (Doner and Bécard, 1991). The spores were resuspended in sterile tap water and cold treated for 7-9 weeks at 4 °C prior to use.

3.2 Plant material and growth conditions

Bean seeds (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.) cv. Contender UT15 (Stokes Seeds Ltd. St. Catherines, Ontario, Canada) were surface sterilized in 30% H₂O₂ for 5 minutes, rinsed three times with sterile distilled water, and pregerminated for 48 hours at room temperature in the dark on filter papers soaked with 20 ml of sterile tap water.

Plants were grown in 164 ml Cone-tainers TM (Stuewe and Sons, Corvallis, Oregon). Prior to use, the Cone-tainers were surface sterilized for 45 minutes in 2.5% (w/v) NaOCl and rinsed with distilled water. Cone-tainers received one glass marble to plug the drain hole, followed by 16ml of washed and autoclaved one-quarter inch gravel. A volume of 110 ml of soil mix which consisted of field soil (3mm sieved), Turface® (IMC Imcore, Mundelein, Illinois), peat (4 mm sieved), and perlite (1:1:1:1 vol) was placed on top of the gravel. The soil mix (70% sand, 19% silt, 11% clay, 8.0% organic matter) contained 170 mg /kg of P, 362 mg/kg of K, 2813 mg/kg of Ca, 330 mg/kg of Mg, pH of 5.29 and was autoclaved for 60 min at 121°C on three consecutive days before use. A small wooden stake was placed within the soil mix to a depth of 2.5 cm in order to facilitate the delivery of *R. solani* inoculum.

In order to reintroduce the natural microflora other than indigenous AM fungi found in the field soil, all Cone-tainers received 10 ml of a soil filtrate. The soil filtrate was prepared by mixing 50 g of fresh field soil in 1 litre of sterile physiological saline solution (0.85% NaCl) which was stirred for 10 minutes and then filtered twice through Whatman filter paper (#1). The microflora was reintroduced to the soil mix 6 days prior to sowing of the bean seeds to allow the soil's microflora to become established. The Cone-tainers were placed in a growth cabinet maintained at 23°C/20°C (day/night), with 80% relative humidity and watered once a day with 15-20 ml of double distilled water. Lighting was maintained for 16 hours/day generating a photon flux of 210 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ (PAR) at the surface of the Cone-tainer.

3.3 Plant inoculation

Two pregerminated bean seeds were placed within each Cone-tainer and inoculated with 4 ml of *G. intraradices* spore solution containing 2500 axenically-produced spores that was poured over the seeds. Cone-tainers not inoculated with *G. intraradices* received 4 ml of sterile tap water. The pregerminated seeds were then covered with 1.5-2.0 cm of the soil mix prepared as above, and the Cone-tainers were placed in a growth cabinet under the same conditions as above. Cone-tainers were watered as above with double distilled water and fertilization began 12 days after planting. Each Cone-tainer received 10 ml of a modified Long Ashton solution (St-Arnaud *et al.*, 1994) 2- 3 times a week up until inoculation with *R. solani*.

Prior to post-infection with *R. solani*, bean plants inoculated or not with *G. intraradices* were allowed to grow for 27 days at which time the percentage of total root length colonized with *G. intraradices* was approximately 25%. The small wooden stake was carefully removed from the soil and 4 oat kernels previously colonized with *R. solani* were dropped down the hole that was formed. Cone-tainers not inoculated with *R. solani* received 4 autoclaved oat kernels. The plants were then harvested 1, 3 and 5 days after infection (dai). In all, there were 4 treatment-combinations for each harvesting date: 1-not inoculated with *G. intraradices* and not infected with *R. solani* (-G-R), 2- inoculated with *G. intraradices* and not infected with *R. solani* (+G-R), 3- not inoculated with *G.*

intraradices and infected with *R. solani* (-G+R), and 4- inoculated with *G. intraradices* and infected with *R. solani* (+G+R).

3.4 Evaluation of disease and root colonization

At each harvesting date, the plants were carefully removed from the Cone-tainers and the root system was quickly washed in tap water to remove the adhering soil. The severity of hypocotyl rot caused by R. solani was visually evaluated for each plant using a disease severity scale ranging from 0 to 5 on the basis of necrotic lesion development (Cardoso and Echandi, 1987); where 0 = no lesions on hypocotyl, 1 = lesions ≤ 2.5 mm long, 2 =lesions 2.5-5.0 mm long, 3 =lesions ≥ 5.0 mm long, 4 = lesions girdling plant, 5 = plant is damped-off or dead. The plants were divided into three sections: roots, stems and leaves, and flash-frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80°C for RNA analysis. For the determination of G. intraradices and R. solani colonization of the roots, a small sample of roots was randomly taken and cut into 1-cm sections, cleared in 10% KOH and stained with acid fuchsin (Kormanik and McGraw, 1982). The percentage of root length colonized by G. intraradices and R. solani was determined using the gridline intersect method (Giovannetti and Mosse, 1980). Hyphae of R. solani were differentiated from G. intraradices hyphae by the presence of distinctive septae, branching morphology (Sneh et al., 1991) and staining colouration that was not observed in G. intraradices hyphae.

3.5 Experimental design and statistical analyses

The experimental design was a split-split plot consisting of three blocks. The harvesting dates (1, 3 and 5 dai with R. *solani*) were randomized among the main plots, while G.

intraradices inoculation (+G or -G) was randomized among the split plots and *R. solani* infection (+R or -R) was randomized among the split-split plots. There were three replicates of each treatment-combination for each harvesting date and the entire experiment was repeated twice. For the statistical analyses, the two experiments were considered temporal blocks so that the data from both experiments could be analyzed together. Statistical analyses were done with the General Linear Model procedures of the SAS statistical software (SAS Institute Inc., 1998) and log linear analysis of the STAT-GRAPHICS software (STSC Inc., 1988). The percentage of root length colonized by *G. intraradices* and by *R. solani* were analyzed using ANOVA, while disease severity caused by *R. solani* was analyzed with frequency table analysis using a log linear model (Lehmann, 1975). Where appropriate *a posteriori* comparisons between treatments were performed using Tukey's studentized range tests. For analysis of mRNA transcript levels, 10 µg of total RNA was prepared by pooling 3.33 µg from all three replicates of each treatment combination.

3.6 RNA extraction and blot analysis

The entire root, stem and leaf tissues were ground to a fine powder in liquid nitrogen using a mortar and pestle. Total RNA was extracted from 0.1 g of ground tissue using the Rneasy Plant Mini Kit (Qiagen Inc, Mississuaga, Ontario, Canada). The RNA was quantified using a Beckman DU 640 spectrophotometer, assuming that an A_{260} of 1.0 approximates a solution of 40 µg/ml of RNA. RNA quality was verified by electrophoresis in formaldehyde agarose gels according to the instructions of the manufacturer of the RNA extraction kit. Ten (10) µg of RNA/ sample was transferred onto Hybond N nylon membrane (Amersham Pharmacia Biotech, Baie d'Urfe, Quebec, Canada) using a Bio-Dot SF slot blot apparatus (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada) according to Sambrook *et al.* (1989). The RNA was fixed to the membrane by UV irradiation using a Strat-linker UV crosslinker (Stratagene, La Jolla, California).

The membranes containing the transferred RNA were incubated for 20 minutes in 3 X SSC (1 X SSC consists of 0.15 M sodium chloride and 0.015 M sodium citrate, pH 7), and prehybdridized for 12-16 hours at 42 °C in a solution of 3 X SSC, 50% (v/v) formamide, 0.2% (w/v) SDS (sodium dodecyl sulphate), 60 mM sodium phosphate (pH 7.2), 5 X Denhardt's solution and 0.1 mg/ml denatured fragmented salmon sperm DNA. cDNA probes were labelled with $[\alpha-32P]$ dCTP using a random primer labelling kit (T7 QuickPrime Kit, Amersham Pharmacia Biotech) and subsequently purified on a Sephadex G50 column. The hybridization solution was identical to the prehybridization solution except that the former contained denatured labelled probe at a concentration of 0.5-2.0 X 10⁶ cpm/ml. The membranes were hybridized with the probes for 12-16 hours at 42 °C and washed in 5 X SSC, 0.1% SDS for 1 hour at 55°C and in 0.2 X SSC, 0.1% SDS for 1 hour at 60°C. The membranes were exposed to phosphor screens (Kodak screen K) that were scanned using a Molecular Imager FX (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada). All signal intensities were below the saturation threshold of the apparatus. The signals on the screens corresponding to either hydroxyproline-rich glycoprotein, phenylalanine ammonia-lyase, chalcone synthase, chalcone isomerase or H1 mRNA were

quantified and analyzed using Quantity One software program (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Mississauga, Ontario, Canada). Normalization of the signals involved arbitrarily setting equal the resultant accumulation of H1 transcripts with compensatory changes to the respective data obtained from the utilization of the other probes. For reprobing, the membranes were placed in boiling 0.1% SDS and allowed to cool for approximately 2 hours to strip the previous probe from the membrane.

3.7 cDNA probes

cDNA clones originating from common bean (*Phaseolus vulgaris* L.), and encoding for chalcone isomerase (pCHI1), chalcone synthase (pCHS1), phenylalanine ammonia-lyase (pPAL5), hydroxyproline-rich glycoprotein (pHYP4.1), chitinase (pCHT12.2), glucanase (pG101), polygalacturonase inhibiting protein (pAD16) and a constitutively expressed gene of unknown function (pH1) were used as probes for hybridization. Description of the gene product, clone, insert size and origin of the probes are listed in Table 1. Prior to performing a complete transcript analysis, all 8 probes were screened using RNA extracted from stem tissue in order to determine among which of the eight mRNA transcripts were expressed to a level that allowed accurate quantification (Table 1).
Gene product	Clone	Restriction site	Insert size (kb)	Size of RNA species (kb)	Eliminated during screening	Origin
Chalcone isomerase (CHI)	pCHI1	<i>Eco</i> R1	0.87	1.0		Mehdy and Lamb, 1987
Chalcone synthase (CHS)	pCHS1	<i>Eco</i> R1	1.30	1.5		Ryder et al., 1984
Phenylalanine ammonia- lyase (PAL)	pPAL5	Pst 1	1.77	2.5		Edwards et al., 1985
Hydroxyproline rich- glycoprotein (HRGP)	pHYP4.1	Pst 1	0.70	2.5 (may cross hybridize with 4.4, 3.3 and 1.8kb)		Corbin <i>et al</i> ., 1987
Chitinase (CHT)	pCHT12.2	Bam H1 and Kpn 1	0.65	1.2	X	Hedrick et al., 1988
Class I β-1,3- Glucanase (GLU)	pG101	Pst 1	0.93	1.4	Х	Edington et al., 1991
Polygalacturonase inhibiting protein (PGIP)	pAD16	Bam H1	1.27	1.2	Х	Toubart et al., 1992
Unknown function	pH1	Pst 1	1.00	Several sizes		Lawton and Lamb, 1987

Table 1. cDNA clones used as hybridization probes for the analysis of transcript levels in bean tissue.

26

CHAPTER IV

Results

4.1 G. intraradices and R. solani colonization of bean roots

All structures of G. intraradices (intercellular hyphae, arbuscules and vesicles) were present in the root tissue of bean plants inoculated with G. intraradices and infected or not with the compatible fungal pathogen R. solani. The percentage of root length colonized by G. intraradices was not significantly different for all three time points after infection with R. solani, ranging from 23.5% to 35.0% (Table 2A). Infection with the compatible pathogen did not have a significant (P > 0.05) effect on mycorrhizal colonization, although mycorrhizal plants infected with R. solani had a slightly lower percentage of their roots colonized by G. intraradices (Table 2A). The presence of G. *intraradices* had no significant effect (P > 0.05) on the percentage of root length colonized by R. solani (Table 2B). Root colonization by R. solani significantly (P < 0.05) increased with time (Table 2B). Specifically, the plants harvested 5 dai had a significantly higher percentage of root length colonized with R. solani when compared to plants harvested 1 and 3 dai (Table 2B). Differential fertilization of AM and non-AM bean plants in order to compensate for phosphorus levels was not necessary since the results of a recent study (Filion et al., 2001) using the same bean cultivar, AM fungus, potting substrate and fertilization regime found no significant differences (P > 0.05) in shoot and root dry weight between AM and non-AM bean plants over a six week period. In the current study, no obvious differences in the size of the root systems or aerial portions of non-AM and AM plants were observed throughout the duration of the study.

27

4.2 Severity of hypocotyl rot

To study the effect of *G. intraradices* on hypocotly rot caused by *R. solani*, the severity of lesions on the hypocotyls was estimated using a visual disease severity scale. Disease severity data were analyzed using frequency tables to allow proper analysis of the effect of time and *G. intraradices* inoculation on hypocotyl rot. Hypocotyl rot significantly increased with time, with more plants exhibiting a value of 4 on the disease severity scale at 5 dai, while significantly more plants exhibited no disease at 1 dai (Table 3). Severe hypocotyl rot appeared by 3 dai, and at 5 dai significantly fewer plants exhibited no disease compared with those harvested 1 and 3 dai. There was no significant difference (P< 0.05) in disease severity between -G+R and +G+R treatments, although a larger percentage of -G+R plants had higher rankings on the disease severity scale of hypocotyl rot (Table 4), which was most evident at 3 dai (data not shown).

Table 2.	Effect of	pre-colonization	by Glomus	intraradices	and post-infection	m by
Rhizocto	onia solani	i on fungal root co	olonization.			

A		Mycorrhizal col	onization (%) #	
		Days after ir	nfection (dai)	
Treatment*	1	3	5	Mean \$
+G-R	35.0	30.5	30.2	31.9a
+G+R	26.2	23.5	29.0	26.2a
Mean \$	30.6a †	27.0a	29.6a	
В	R. solani colonization (%)			<u></u>
		Days after in		
Treatment	1	3	5	Mean
-G+R	0.0	1.5	5.5	2.3a
+G+R	0.0	2.5	5.7	2.7a
Mean	0.0a	2.0a	5.6b	

Percent root length bearing fungal structures of G. *intraradices* or R. *solani*, as evaluated using the gridline intersect method (Giovannetti and Mosse, 1980).

*+G-R = plants inoculated with G. *intraradices* and not infected with R. *solani*, +G+R = plants inoculated with G. *intraradices* and infected with R. *solani*. -G+R = plants not inoculated with G. *intraradices* and infected with R. *solani*.

\$ Means were calculated using the values of six replicates.

[†] For part A, means with different letters between each column or row are significantly different (P<0.05) by analysis of variance. For part B, means with different letters between each column are significantly different (P<0.05) by Tukey's studentized range test; means with different letters between each row are significantly different (P<0.05) by analysis of variance. Data from +G treatments only were included in part A as no mycorrhizal colonization was observed in -G plants. Data form +R treatments only were included in part B as no *R. solani* colonization was observed in -R plants.

	Days a	fter infection with R.	solani
Disease severity			
scale #	1	3	5
0	95.8+ *	62.5	4.2-
1	4.2	8.3	4.2
2	0	16.6	20.8
3	0	12.5	41.7
4	0	0	29.2+
Overall	a †	b	с

Table 3. Effect of post-infection by *Rhizoctonia solani* on the percentage of bean plants showing each ranking on the disease severity scale.

Disease severity scale for hypocotyl lesions ranged from 0 = no disease to 5 = damping-off or dead as evaluated with the method of Cardoso and Echandi (1987).

*A percentage with a - or + sign was significantly under or over represented, respectively, by comparison with the same ranking on the disease severity scale from the other infection periods.

 \dagger Columns with different letters are significantly different according to a frequency table analysis using a log linear model. Data for plants inoculated with *R. solani* only were included, as plants not infected with *R. solani* showed no signs of disease. As no plants exhibited a ranking of 5 on the disease severity scale, this rank was omitted from the analysis.

Disease severity scale #	+G+R*	-G+R
0	61.1	47.2
1	8.3	2.8
2	8.3	16.7
3	11.1	25.0
4	11.1	8.3
Overall	a †	a

Table 4. Effect of pre-colonization by *Glomus intraradices* on the percentage of bean plants showing each scale of disease severity caused by *Rhizoctonia solani*.

Disease severity scale for hypocotyl lesions ranged from 0 = no disease to 5 = damping-off or dead as evaluated with the method of Cardoso and Echandi (1987).

*+G+R = plants inoculated with G. *intraradices* and infected with R. *solani*, +G-R = plants inoculated with G. *intraradices* and not infected with R. *solani*.

 \dagger Columns with different letters are significantly different according to a frequency table analysis using a log linear model. Data for plants inoculated with *R. solani* only were included, as plants not infected with *R. solani* showed no signs of disease. As no plants exhibited a rank of 5 on the disease severity scale, this rank was omitted from the analysis.

4.3 Accumulation of defense-related gene transcripts

All cDNA probes listed in Table 1 were first tested to determine the transcript levels of the defense-related genes. For this, RNA extracted from stem tissue of mycorrhizal and non-mycorrhizal bean plants infected or not with *R. solani* were analyzed. Transcript levels of chitinase, β -1,3- glucanase and PGIP were at the threshold of the detection limit, which in turn prevented accurate quantification. Consequently, these cDNAs were not retained for further analysis (Table 1).

The slot blot technique (Figures 1-3), which allows the simultaneous analysis of many samples in a single hybridization step, was performed to determine quantitatively the temporal and spatial changes in transcript levels. The choice of this technique is justified by the well-established fact that Northern analysis of all the defense-related probes used in this study have been shown to hybridize to a single RNA species (Table 1). Although, the cDNA, pHYP4.1 in some cases may cross hybridize with other RNA species encoding HRGPs (Corbin *et al.*, 1987), several studies have shown that in pathogen-infected plants, pHYP4.1 hybridizes predominantly to a single RNA species 2.5 kb in size (Mahé *et al.*, 1992; Mahé *et al.*, 1993; Wycoff *et al.*, 1995). To determine whether the differences in transcript levels were due to treatment effects and not to unequal loading of the RNA on the slot blot, the transcript levels for HRGP, PAL, CHS and CHI were normalized with respect to the levels of transcripts of the H1 gene which has been shown to be constitutively expressed (Lawton and Lamb, 1987). The accumulation of H1 mRNA was similar in all tissues and in all four treatment-combinations (Figures 1-3).

32

Figure 1. Effect of pre-colonization by *Glomus intraradices* and post-infection by *Rhizoctonia solani* on HRGP, PAL, CHS, CHI and H1 transcript levels in the root tissue of -G-R (\bigcirc), +G-R (\square), -G+R (\bigcirc) and +G+R (\blacksquare) bean plants. Transcript levels were normalized with respect to H1 and are expressed as arbitrary units. HRGP, hydroxyproline-rich glycoprotein; PAL, phenylalanine ammonia-lyase; CHS, chalcone synthase; CHI, chalcone isomerase; H1, gene of unknown function.



Days after infection

Figure 2. Effect of pre-colonization by *Glomus intraradices* and post-infection by *Rhizoctonia solani* on HRGP, PAL, CHS, CHI and H1 transcript levels in the stem tissue of -G-R (\bigcirc), +G-R (\square), -G+R (\bigcirc) and +G+R (\blacksquare) bean plants. Transcript levels were normalized with respect to H1 and are expressed as arbitrary units. HRGP, hydroxyproline-rich glycoprotein; PAL, phenylalanine ammonia-lyase; CHS, chalcone synthase; CHI, chalcone isomerase; H1, gene of unknown function.



Days after infection

Figure 3. Effect of pre-colonization by *Glomus intraradices* and post-infection by *Rhizoctonia solani* on HRGP, PAL, CHS, CHI and H1 transcript levels in the leaf tissue of -G-R (\bigcirc), +G-R (\square), -G+R (\bigcirc) and +G+R (\blacksquare) bean plants. Transcript levels were normalized with respect to H1 and are expressed as arbitrary units. HRGP, hydroxyproline-rich glycoprotein; PAL, phenylalanine ammonia-lyase; CHS, chalcone synthase; CHI, chalcone isomerase; H1, gene of unknown function.



Days after infection

Interestingly, the H1 transcript levels in leaves (Figure 3) were slightly lower compared to those observed in the root and stem tissues (Figures 1-2).

4.3.1 Root tissue

Non-mycorrhizal (-G-R, \bigcirc) and mycorrhizal (+G-R, \square) root tissue showed a similar trend in PAL, CHS, CHI and HRGP transcript levels over the three time points, with the exception of the first time point where +G-R (\square) plants had slightly elevated levels of CHS transcripts and the last time point where -G-R (\bigcirc) plants had slightly elevated levels of HRGP transcripts (Figure 1). Infection with *R. solani* caused an increase in transcript levels of all four defense-related genes, with the highest levels detected at 5 dai. Generally, transcripts of PAL, CHS and CHI, that code for three of the enzymes in the phenylpropanoid pathway, were first observed to accumulate at 3 dai in response to *R. solani* infection, and continued to increase for the duration of the experiment (Figure 1). Of interest, mRNA levels coding for CHI were slightly elevated at 1 dai in -G+R (\bigcirc) plants only. Increased levels of HRGP transcripts were observed at all time points in the roots of +G+R (\blacksquare) plants as compared to -G+R (\bigcirc) plants, most notably at 3 dai, (Figure 1).

4.3.2 Stem tissue

No difference was detected in the trend of HRGP, PAL, CHS and CHI transcript accumulation between mycorrhizal (+G-R, \Box) and non-mycorrhizal (-G-R, O) plants (Figure 2). Analysis of the expression of the four defense-related genes revealed that only mRNA coding for HRGP and PAL was detectable in the stem tissues of -G-R (O) and

+G-R (\Box) plants over the duration of the experiment (Figure 2). Similar to the root tissue (Figure 1), transcript levels of all four defense-related genes substantially increased in response to *R. solani* infection (Figure 2). Analysis of mRNA levels of the genes coding for enzymes in the phenylpropanoid pathway, revealed consistently higher levels of gene expression, with a 1.5 fold increase in PAL transcripts and a peak of a 7 fold increase in CHS transcripts in -G+R (\bullet) plants at 3 dai compared to +G+R (\blacksquare) plants. At 5 dai, the difference in transcript levels of these genes between -G+R (\bullet) and +G+R (\blacksquare) plants had decreased with the exception of CHI transcripts which were still 2.5 fold higher in -G+R (\bullet) plants. Levels of mRNA coding for HRGP were similar in -G+R (\bullet) and +G+R (\blacksquare) plants over the duration of the experiment (Figure 2). At 5 dai, substantially elevated levels of HRGP transcripts (4 fold) were detected in *R. solani* infected plants versus plants not infected with *R. solani* (Figure 2).

4.3.3 Leaf tissue

Neither *G. intraradices* nor *R. solani* induced substantial alterations in PAL, CHI and CHS mRNA levels at 1 or 3 dai (Figure 3), while HRGP transcript levels peaked at 3 dai in response to *G. intraradices* and not to *R. solani* infection (Figure 3). Irrespective of the mycorrhizal treatment, *R. solani* caused a substantial increase in transcript levels of the four defense-related genes with the highest levels detected at 5 dai (Figure 3). As a result of the AM symbiosis, levels of HRGP and CHI transcripts were respectively 1.3 and 2.0 fold higher in -G+R (\bullet) versus +G+R plants (\blacksquare) (Figure 3), while PAL and CHS transcripts were respectively 1.2 and 1.5 fold higher in +G+R (\blacksquare) versus -G+R (\bullet) plants 5 dai (Figure 3).

Chapter V

Discussion

5.1 Fungal colonization and disease severity

We have examined the influence exerted by the AM symbiosis on root and hypocotyl rot caused by *R. solani* (AG-4) in beans. The results indicate that pre-inoculation with *G. intraradices* did not reduce Rhizoctonia root and hypocotyl rot, although mycorrhizal plants generally had less disease. Equally, post-infection of beans with a highly pathogenic isolate of *R. solani* did not alter mycorrhizal colonization. Thus, the symbiont and the pathogen mutually did not influence the extent of *R. solani* infection or *G. intraradices* colonization. These results are in agreement with previous studies conducted with mycorrhizal soybeans infected with *R. solani*, in which *G. mosseae* had no effect on the incidence of infection of soybeans by the pathogen (Zambolim and Schenck, 1983; Wyss *et al.*, 1991), and simultaneously the pathogen did not influence the course of mycorrhizal colonization (Wyss *et al.*, 1991).

5.2 Defense response of bean plants to R. solani

The present study with *R. solani*-infected bean plants demonstrates that, as in the case of many dicotyledenous plants, defense-related genes are induced in response to infection by fungal pathogens (Collinge and Slusarenko, 1987; Dixon and Harrison, 1990). This is further substantiated by the detection of constant levels of H1 transcript levels, confirming that the increases seen for the defense-related gene transcripts are therefore

part of a selective response to elicitation. The results demonstrate that expression of plant defense-related genes such as the cell wall structural HRGP and genes of the phenylpropanoid pathway are induced spatially and temporally in beans post-infected with the compatible pathogen *R. solani*, regardless whether or not the plants were mycorrhizal. Even though transcript levels of all defense genes increased concomitantly in roots, stems and leaves, there was a differential expression in which levels of all defense genes were generally higher in roots than in stems and leaves. The observation that defense reactions were expressed with a much higher magnitude in *R. solani*-infected mycorrhizal plants than in mycorrhizal plants not infected with the pathogen support the hypothesis that a signal produced by the pathogen is essential for triggering synthesis and accumulation of defense gene products. A similar conclusion was reached in the case of mycorrhizal Ri T-DNA carrot roots colonized by the AM fungus *G. intraradices* and post-infected with *Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. *chrysanthemi* (Benhamou *et al.*, 1994).

Generally in this study, the highest levels of HRGP, PAL, CHS and CHI transcripts occurred late in the infection process when fully developed lesions had formed on the hypocotyls and *R. solani* root colonization was at the highest levels observed. These results reconfirm what others have reported on the accumulation of several plant defense compounds including phytoalexins (Stockwell and Hanchey, 1987), β -1,3-glucanases, chitinases and peroxidases (Wasfy *et al.*, 1984; Xue *et al.*, 1998), and the presence of cell wall structural phenolic compounds (Smith *et al.*, 1975; Jabaji-Hare *et al.*, 1999) at the sites of lesion development in response to infection of bean hypocotyls by highly virulent *R. solani* isolates.

42

It is well known that pathogens or elicitors cause activation of defense mechanisms not only at the site of infection or elicitor treatment, but also in distant uninfected tissues. (Lawton and Lamb, 1987; Lafitte et al., 1993; Xue et al., 1998). Consistent with these reports, R. solani infection of beans resulted in a systemic activation of all defense-related genes studied. Transcript levels of PAL, CHS and CHI showed a very similar spatial and temporal pattern of accumulation in response to R. solani infection. Similar results were found with PAL, CHS and CHI transcripts, using the same cDNA clones, in bean cell suspension cultures as well as in entire plants in response to fungal elicitors and infection by C. lindemuthianium, another highly virulent fungal pathogen of beans (Cramer et al., 1985; Mehdy and Lamb, 1987; Bolwell et al., 1988). These results together with the present study support the concept that the genes coding for enzymes of the phenylpropanoid and flavonoid/isoflavonoid pathways are coordinately regulated during pathogenic infections. This is also supported by the fact that several genes encoding enzymes of the phenylpropanoid pathway share similarity in the structure of their promoters (Leyva et al., 1992; Arias et al., 1993).

Phenolic compounds are complex polymers formed from a mixture of simple phenylpropanoids in which PAL is a key regulatory enzyme of the phenylpropanoid biosynthetic pathway (Dixon and Paiva, 1995). Histochemical tests, conducted by Jabaji-Hare *et al.* (1999), on hypocotyls of one-week-old bean seedlings infected with the same *R. solani* isolate used in the present study, showed that high amounts of phenolic compounds were located in the walls of epidermal cells and the outermost layers of the cortex. In contrast, these compounds were absent in healthy bean seedlings. It is believed that the deposition of these compounds may provide an effective physical and/or chemical barriers to the invading hyphae of *R. solani* (Jabaji-Hare *et al.*, 1999). Our findings that PAL transcripts rapidly accumulated in the stem tissue in response to *R. solani* infection support this hypothesis.

In the case of HRGP transcripts, which code for a cell wall structural protein, the appearance and levels of HYP4.1 mRNA transcripts coding for a HRGP differed spatially and temporally, as compared to PAL, CHS and CHI transcripts. Notably, accumulation of HRGP mRNA was delayed in the stem tissue. Similarly, Lawton and Lamb (1987) studying the expression of HRGP, PAL and CHS also showed a delayed accumulation of HRGP gene transcripts in elicitor-treated cell cultures of bean. In contrast to the stem tissue, HRGP transcripts accumulated earlier than PAL, CHS and CHI transcripts in the leaf tissue in response to R. solani infection. These results differ from what has been reported in other studies where accumulation of HRGP transcripts in leaves of bean plants infected with C. lindemuthianum coincided with the accumulation of PAL and CHI transcripts (Mahé et al., 1992; Mahé et al., 1993). Why only HRGP transcripts accumulated faster in leaf tissue and not in other tissues is not clear. This discrepancy may be attributed to the age of the plants at inoculation, and to the different bean cultivar and pathogen used (cultivar P₁₂S and C. lindemuthianum) used by Mahé et al. versus cultivar Contender UT15 and R. solani in our case.

The systemic induction of defense-related gene expression in this system also addresses the question of signal migration from the roots to the rest of the plant. Many studies have indicated that salicylic acids (SA), a natural phenolic compound, is an important signaling factor in the induction of systemic acquired resistance (Klessig and Malamy, 1994; Ryals *et al.*, 1994). In a previous study, it has been observed that the concentration of endogenous salicylic acid in beans increased during infection by *R. solani*. Compared to control tissues, the amount of SA was higher in roots and stems (Jabaji-Hare, personal communication). Additional experiments are needed to understand the role of SA in this interaction.

5.3 Accumulation of defense-related gene transcripts in response to the AM symbiosis

In the root tissue, we observed that mycorrhizal colonization neither stimulated nor suppressed the levels of defense-related gene transcripts to any appreciable amounts. Similar results were reported for HRGP, PAL, CHS, CHT transcripts in bean roots colonized by *G. intraradices* (Blee and Anderson, 1996) or *G. mosseae* (Mohr *et al.*, 1998). In other studies, both stimulation and suppression of plant defense responses have been observed in root tissue in response to colonization by AM fungi (Spanu *et al.*, 1989b; Lambais and Mehdy, 1993; Franken and Gnadinger, 1994; Volpin *et al.*, 1995; Ruiz-Lozano *et al.*, 1999). In general, these studies observed an early stimulation of plant defense-gene expression, generally one to two weeks after inoculation, followed by a weak suppression as the symbiosis matured. In our study, the plants were harvested approximately 4 weeks after inoculation with *G. intraradices*. Therefore, if some type of

alteration had occurred in the root tissue early in the development of the symbiosis it would not have been observed. Localized changes in mycorrhizal root cells in the levels of transcripts encoding defense-related genes have been investigated. Arbusculated cells of several plant species including *P. vulgaris* possessed elevated glucanase, chitinase (Lambais and Mehdy, 1995), PAL, CHS (Harrison and Dixon, 1994) and HRGP (Balestrini *et al.*, 1997) transcript levels. Since in this study we analyzed RNA from the whole root system, single cell responses might have been diluted.

As far as we are aware, this is the first report examining the effect of the AM symbiosis in absence of external biotic elicitors on defense gene transcript levels in distant, hitherto non-colonized plant parts such as stems and leaves. Although recently, Shaul et al. (1999) assessed PR protein defense responses in abiotic elicitor-treated AM and non-AM tobacco leaves, non-elicited AM and non-AM controls were not compared. Expression of genes that are involved in cell wall modification such as HRGP are influenced by a variety of factors such as wounding (Corbin et al., 1987), elicitor treatment (Showalter et al., 1985), infection by a pathogen (Templeton et al., 1990) and mycorrhization (Franken and Gnadinger, 1994). In our study, the accumulation of HRGP mRNA in leaves of +G-R at 3 dai in response to G. intraradices indicates that the AM fungus is able to induce a systemic response. Similarly in other AM systems, elevated levels of HRGP encoding mRNA have been reported in the roots of parsley (Franken and Gnadinger, 1994) and in arbusculated Zea mays L. cells (Balestrini et al., 1997). Since we are the first to investigate the expression of HRGP in leaves of mycorrhizal plants, direct comparison with results of other research is not possible. However, it is worthwhile to point out that

irrespective of the tissue examined, whether leaves (this study) or roots (Franken and Gnadinger, 1994), accumulation of HRGP was detected in cells or tissues that do not contain AM structures, indicating a systemic effect on HRGP expression.

5.4 AM induced alterations of plant defense responses during infection by R. solani Contradictory evidence has shown that, in response to infection by a pathogen, the presence of the AM symbiosis can either stimulate (Benhamou et al., 1994; Cordier et al., 1998) suppress (Guenoune et al., 2001) or have no effect (Mohr et al., 1998) on plant defense mechanisms. The results of this study clearly demonstrate that a differential spatial and temporal accumulation of defense-related gene transcripts occurs in mycorrhizal pathogen-infected plants. Increased accumulation of the cell wall structural HRGP mRNAs in roots, and PAL and CHS in leaves in mycorrhizal pathogen-infected plants versus non-mycorrhizal pathogen-infected plants was observed. This observation supports the results of Benhamou et al. (1994) and Cordier et al. (1998) who showed that as a result of AM symbiosis, cell wall remodeling, such as the cell wall thickenings, was induced in mycorrhizal carrot roots infected with F. oxysporum and tomato roots infected with P. parasitica, respectively. Conversely, suppression of defense-related genes, most notably genes coding for the phenylpropanoid pathway, was detected in the stem tissue of mycorrhizal pathogen-infected bean plants. This co-ordinate suppression corresponds to the time when reduced disease severity in AM plants was most evident. Suppression of several defense-related responses such as CHI mRNA levels (Guenoune et al., 2001), PR proteins levels (Shaul et al., 1999) and peroxidase activity (Guenoune et al., 2001) have been also observed in various mycorrhizal pathogen-infected or elicitor-treated systems.

In addition to stimulation and suppression, we have also observed that the AM fungus *G. intraradices* induced no change in the levels of some defense-related gene transcripts, such as CHS in roots and HRGP in the stem over the course of infection by the pathogen. Similarly, unchanged levels of chitinase transcripts and PR protein levels were also reported in bean roots colonized by *G. mosseae* and infected with *F. solani* (Mohr *et al.*, 1998), and in tomato roots colonized by *G. mosseae* and infected with *P. parasitica* (Dassi *et al.*, 1998), respectively. Taken together, the results of the current study along with those of previous studies indicate that a clear trend is not evident on how the AM symbiosis affect the plant's defense responses temporally and spatially during a pathogenic interaction. Recently, Shaul *et al.* (1999) and David *et al.* (1998) proposed that the AM induced changes to plant defense responses may be mediated by phytohormones.

The observation that the dramatic difference in gene expression between AM and non-AM plants was detected only in the presence of *R. solani*, indicates that many AMinduced changes in plant defense responses may be observed only during a pathogenic interaction. In line with this observation, Pozo *et al.* (1999) detected two glucanase isoforms found only in AM tomato plants post-infected with *P. parasitica*. Taken together, the results of both studies indicate that one cannot extrapolate the effect of the AM symbiosis on plant defense responses during a pathogenic interaction by investigating AM and non-AM plants in absence of a pathogen as many AM induced effects are only present upon challenge with a pathogen.

48

The results of the present study indicate that the effect of the AM symbiosis on the expression of defense-related genes is complex and may result in varying responses from stimulation to suppression of gene expression depending on the gene, the tissue and the time after infection with the pathogen. Therefore, to fully understand the effect of the AM symbiosis on plant defense responses, it is crucial to investigate the state of the plant's defense mechanisms in various tissues and times after infection with the pathogen. Studies investigating plant defense responses only in the root tissue or at one time after infection with the pathogen do not provide a clear understanding of the effects of the AM symbiosis.

Stimulation of plant defense responses as a result of AM symbiosis, has been postulated as a possible cause for the reduction in disease severity observed in AM plants (Rosendahl, 1985; Caron *et al.*, 1986b; St-Arnaud *et al.*, 1994; Niemira *et al.*, 1996). Although the results of the present study shows that the AM symbiosis systemically and differentially effects the expression of defense-related genes during a pathogenic infection, they do not clearly demonstrate that induced resistance is involved in the bioprotective ability of the AM symbiosis as there was no direct correlation between AM induced defense responses and disease severity. In summary, the results of the present study supports the growing body of evidence that the effect of AM symbiosis on plant defense responses is extremely complex and more research is therefore required to further investigate what if any involvement AM induced alterations of plant defense mechanisms have on reducing disease severity in AM plants.

Chapter VI

Concluding comments

The effect of the AM symbiosis on reducing the severity of diseases caused by soil-borne pathogens has received considerable attention. Numerous mechanisms have been postulated to explain this phenomenon such as the stimulation of plant defense responses by the AM fungus which would allow the plant to more effectively respond to a subsequent pathogenic attack. This has lead many researchers to investigate how the AM symbiosis effects plant defense mechanisms. Initial research focused on how the AM symbiosis alone influences plant defense mechanisms, with more recent studies investigating the defense responses of AM plants during a pathogenic infection. With few exceptions, these studies only investigated the state of the plant's defense responses in the root tissue and only at one time point after infection with the pathogen. The lack of knowledge on the spatial and temporal effects of the AM symbiosis during a pathogenic infection by *R. solani*, and if the AM symbiosis affords beans protection against *R. solani*.

The results of the current study indicate that colonization of *P. vulgaris* by *G. intraradices* does not significantly reduce the severity of disease caused by the soil-borne pathogen *R. solani*. As this is to our knowledge the first study to investigate the *P. vulgaris-G. intraradices-R. solani* combination, further research is needed to support this finding, but it does corroborate previous work conducted on soybean by Zambolim and

Schenck (1983) and by Wyss *et al.* (1991). The results of the current study provide evidence that colonization of *P. vulgaris* by *G. intraradices* causes systemic alteration of defense responses as illustrated by the elevated HRGP transcript levels in the leaves. However, the AM symbiosis generally did not cause an alteration in the transcript levels of the other genes studied.

The results of the present study indicate, that during a pathogenic interaction, the presence of an AM symbiosis alters the defense responses in the root tissue but also in distant tissues such as the stem and leaves that are uncolonized by the AM fungus. The effect of the AM symbiosis on the levels of transcripts of defense-related genes is complex and may cause transcript levels to increase, decrease or remain unchanged depending on the time after infection with the pathogen, the plant tissue, as well as the transcript studied. This supports previous work that has shown that the AM symbiosis can have a variety of effects on plant defense mechanisms. This is one of the first studies to investigate the spatial and temporal effects of the AM symbiosis on plant defense responses during a pathogenic infection and the complexity of the results substantiate the need for further studies.

Future studies should also investigate the levels of transcripts of other defense-related genes such as cell wall hydrolases and how they are affected by the AM symbiosis during pathogenic infections, as transcript levels of glucanase and chitinase could not be investigated in the current study. It is also crucial that future research be conducted to investigate through which mechanisms the AM symbiosis alter plant defense responses

51

and by what mechanisms are the AM induced changes communicated to distant uncolonized regions of the plant. Importantly, as no significant AM induced reduction in disease severity was observed in the present study, further research on AM induced effects on plant defense responses should utilize AM plant-pathogen combinations where the AM symbiosis significantly reduces disease severity. As well, it would be useful to use more advanced and precise methodologies such as reverse transcriptase PCR to quantify transcript levels in the plant tissue. These new techniques are more sensitive than the slot blot technique used in this study. Research should also focus on the other mechanisms that have been proposed to explain reduced disease severity in AM plants, such as AM induced alteration in the soil's microflora which would inhibit pathogen growth (Meyer and Linderman, 1986; Filion *et al.*, 1999) and may be involved in the phenomenon.

REFERENCES

- Arias, J.A., Dixon, R.A. and Lamb, C.J. (1993) Dissection of the functional architecture of a plant defense gene promoter using a homologous *in vitro* transcription initiation system. *Plant Cell*, 5, 485-496.
- Azcón-Aguilar, C. and Barea, J.M. (1996) Arbuscular mycorrhizas and biological control of soil-borne plant pathogens an overview of the mechanisms involved.
 Mycorrhiza, 6, 457-464.
- Balestrini, R., Joseestanyol, M., Puigdomenech, P. and Bonfante, P. (1997)
 Hydroxyproline-rich glycoprotein mRNA accumulation in maize root cells
 colonized by an arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus as revealed by *in situ*hybridization. *Protoplasma*, 198, 36-42.
- Bécard, G. and Fortin, J.A. (1988) Early events of vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhiza formation on Ri T-DNA transformed roots. *New Phytologist*, **108**, 211-218.
- Benhamou, N., Fortin, J.A., Hamel, C., Starnaud, M. and Shatilla, A. (1994) Resistance responses of mycorrhizal Ri T-DNA-transformed carrot roots to infection by *Fusarium oxysporum* f.sp. chrysanthemi. Phytopathology, 84, 958-968.
- Blee, K.A. and Anderson, A.J. (1996) Defense-related transcript accumulation in *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. colonized by the arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus *Glomus intraradices* Schenck & Smith. *Plant Physiology*, **110**, 675-688.
- Blee, K.A. and Anderson, A.J. (2000) Defense responses in plants to arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. In Podila, G.K. and Douds, D.D. (eds.), *Current Advances in Mycorrhizae Research*. APS Press, St-Paul, Minnesota, pp. 27-44.

- Blilou, I., Bueno, P., Ocampo, J.A. and Garcia-Garrido, J. (2000) Induction of catalase and ascorbate peroxidase activities in tobacco roots inoculated with the arbuscular mycorrhizal *Glomus mosseae*. *Mycological Research*, **104**, 722-725.
- Bolwell, G.P., Mavandad, M., Millar, D.J., Edwards, K.J., Schuch, W. and Dixon, R.A. (1988) Inhibition of mRNA levels and the activities by *trans*-cinnamic acid in elicitor-induced bean cells. *Phytochemistry*, 27, 2109-2117.
- Bowles, D.J. (1990) Defense-related proteins in higher plants. Annual Review of Biochemistry, **59**, 873-907.
- Cardoso, J.E. and Echandi, E. (1987) Biological control of Rhizoctonia root rot of snap bean with binucleate *Rhizoctonia*-like fungus. *Plant Disease*, **71**, 167-170.

Caron, M., Fortin, J.A. and Richard, C. (1986a) Effect of phosphorus concentration and Glomus intraradices on Fusarium crown and root rot of tomatoes. Phytopathology, 76, 942-946.

- Caron, M., Richard, C. and Fortin, J.A. (1986b) Effect of preinfestation of the soil by a vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus, *Glomus intraradices*, on Fusarium crown and root rot of tomatoes. *Phytoprotection*, 67, 15-19.
- Cervone, F., De Lorenzo, G., Degrà, L., Salvi, G. and Bergami, M. (1987) Purification and characterization of a polygalacturonase-inhibiting protein from *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. *Plant Physiology*, **85**, 631-637.
- Collinge, D.A. and Slusarenko, A.J. (1987) Plant gene expression in response to pathogens. *Plant Molecular Biology*, **9**, 389-410.

Corbin, D.R., Sauer, N. and Lamb, C.J. (1987) Differential regulation of a hydroxyproline-rich glycoprotein gene family in wounded and infected plants. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 7, 4337-4344.

- Cordier, C., Pozo, M.J., Gianinazzi, S. and Gianinazzi-Pearson, V. (1998) Cell defense responses associated with localized and systemic resistance to *Phytophthora parasitica* induced in tomato by an arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions*, **11**, 1017-1028.
- Cramer, C.L., Ryder, T.B., Bell, J.N. and Lamb, C. (1985) Rapid switching of plant gene expression induced by fungal elicitor. *Science*, **227**, 1240-1243.
- Dassi, B., Dumas-Gaudot, E., Asselin, A., Richard, C. and Gianinazzi, S. (1996)
 Chitinase and beta-1,3-glucanase isoforms expressed in pea roots inoculated with arbuscular mycorrhizal or pathogenic fungi. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, **102**, 105-108.
- Dassi, B., Dumas-Gaudot, E. and Gianinazzi, S. (1998) Do pathogenesis-related (PR) proteins play a role in bioprotection of mycorrhizal tomato towards *Phytophthora parasitica*? *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology*, **52**, 167-183.
- David, R., Itzhaki, H., Ginzberg, I., Gafni, Y., Galili, G. and Kapulnik, Y. (1998)
 Suppression of tobacco basic chitinase gene expression in response to colonization
 by the arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus *Glomus intraradices*. *Molecular Plant- Microbe Interactions*, 11, 489-497.
- Davis, R.M. and Menge, J.A. (1980) Influence of *Glomus fasciculatus* and soil phosphorus on Phytophtora root rot of citrus. *Phytopathology*, **70**, 447-452.

De Lorenzo, G., Cervone, F., Bellincampi, D., Caprari, C., Clark, A.J., Dersiderio, A.,
Devoto, A., Forrest, R., Leckie, F., Nuss, L. and Salvi, G. (1994)
Polygalacturonase, PGIP, and oligogalacturonides in cell-cell communication. *Biochemical Society Transactions*, 22, 394-397.

- Dehne, H.W. (1982) Interaction between vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and plant pathogens. *Phytopathology*, **72**, 1115-1119.
- Dehne, H.-W. and Schonbeck, F. (1979) Untersuchungen zum einfluss der endotrophen mycorrhiza auf pflanzenkrankheiten. II. Phenolstoffwechsel und lignifizierung. *Phytopathologische Zeitschrift*, **95**, 210-216.
- Devoto, A., Clark, A.J., Nuss, L., Cervone, F. and De Lorenzo, G. (1997) Developmental and pathogen-induced accumulation of transcripts of polygalacturonase-inhibiting protein in *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. *Planta*, **202**, 284-292.
- Dixon, R.A. (1986) The phytoalexin response: elicitation, signalling and control of host gene expression. *Biological Reviews*, **61**, 239-291.
- Dixon, R.A., Choudhary, A.D., Harrison, M.J., Stermer, B.A., Yu, L., Jenkins, S.M.,
 Lamb, C.J. and Lawton, M.A. (1991) Transcription factors and defence activation.
 In Smith, C.J. (ed.) *Biochemistry and Molecular Biology of Plant-Pathogen Interactions*. Oxford University Press, Oxford, pp. 271-284.
- Dixon, R.A. and Harrison, M.J. (1990) Activation, structure and organization of genes involved in microbial defense in plants. *Advances in Genetics*, **28**, 165-233.
- Dixon, R.A. and Paiva, N.L. (1995) Stress-induced phenylpropanoid metabolism. *Plant Cell*, 7, 1085-1097.

- Doner, L.W. and Bécard, G. (1991) Solubilization of gellan gels by chelation of cations. Biotechnology Techniques, 5, 25-28.
- Dumas-Gaudot, E., Asselin, A., Gianinazzi-Pearson, V., Gollotte, A. and Gianinazzi, S. (1994) Chitinase isoforms in roots of various pea genotypes infected with arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. *Plant Science*, **99**, 27-37.
- Dumas-Gaudot, E., Slezack, S., Dassi, B., Pozo, M.J., Gianinazzi-Pearson, V. and
 Gianinazzi, S. (1996) Plant hydrolytic enzymes (chitinases and beta-1,3-glucanases) in root reactions to pathogenic and symbiotic microorganisms. *Plant & Soil*, 185, 211-221.
- Edington, B.V., Lamb, C.J. and Dixon, R.A. (1991) cDNA cloning and characterization of a putative 1,3-β-D-glucanase transcript induced by fungal elicitor in bean suspension cultures. *Plant Molecular Biology*, **16**, 81-94.
- Edwards, K., Cramer, C.L., Bolwell, G.P., Dixon, R.A., Schuch, W. and Lamb, C.J. (1985) Rapid transient induction of phenylalanine ammonia-lyase mRNA in elicitor-treated bean cells. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, U.S.A, 82, 6731-6735.
- Filion, M., St-Arnaud, M. and Fortin, J.A. (1999) Direct interaction between the arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus *Glomus intraradices* and different rhizosphere microorganisms. *New Phytologist*, 141, 525-533.
- Filion, M., St-Arnaud, M., Guillon, C., Hamel, C. and Jabaji-Hare, S. (2001) Suitability of *Glomus intraradices* in vitro-produced spores and root segments inoculum for the establishment of a mycorhizosphere in an experimental microcosm. *Canadian Journal of Botany*, **In Press**.

Franken, P. and Gnadinger, F. (1994) Analysis of parsley arbuscular endomycorrhiza infection development and mRNA levels of defense-related genes. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions*, 7, 612-620.

- Gianinazzi-Pearson, V., Dumas-Gaudot, E., Gollotte, A., Tahirialaoui, A. and Gianinazzi,
 S. (1996) Cellular and molecular defence-related root responses to invasion by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. *New Phytologist*, 133, 45-57.
- Giovannetti, M. and Mosse, B. (1980) An evaluation of techniques for measuring vesicular arbuscular mycorrhizal infection in roots. *New Phytologist*, **84**, 489-500.
- Graham, J.H. and Menge, J.A. (1982) Influence of vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizae and soil phosphorus on take-all disease of wheat. *Phytopathology*, **72**, 95-98.
- Guenoune, D., Galili, S., Phillips, D.A., Volpin, H., Chet, I., Okon, Y. and Kapulnik, Y.
 (2001) The defense response elicited by the pathogen *Rhizoctonia solani* is suppressed by colonization of the AM-fungus *Glomus intraradices*. *Plant Science*, 160, 925-932.
- Hahlbrock, K. and Scheel, D. (1989) Physiology and molecular biology of phenylpropanoid metabolism. *Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology*, 40, 347-369.
- Hammerschmidt, R. (1999) Induced disease resistance: how do induced plants stop pathogens? *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology*, **55**, 77-84.
- Hammerschmidt, R., Lamport, D.T.A. and Muldoon, E.P. (1984) Cell wall hydroxyproline enhancement and lignin deposition as an early event in the resistance of cucumber to *Cladosporium cucumerinum*. *Physiological Plant Pathology*, 24, 43-47.

Harrison, M.J. and Dixon, R.A. (1994) Spatial patterns of expression of

flavonoid/isoflavonoid pathway genes during interactions between roots of *Medicago truncatula* and the mycorrhizal fungus *Glomus versiforme*. *Plant Journal*, **6**, 9-20.

- Hayman, D.S. (1983) The physiology of vesicular-arbuscular endomycorrhizal symbiosis. *Canadian Journal of Botany*, **61**, 944-963.
- Hedrick, S.A., Bell, J.N., Boller, T. and Lamb, C.J. (1988) Chitinase cDNA cloning and mRNA induction by fungal elicitor, wounding, and infection. *Plant Physiology*, 86, 182-186.
- Hoffland, E., Pieterse, C.M.J., L., B. and van Pelt, J.A. (1995) Induced systemic resistance in radish is not associated with accumulation of pathogenesis-related proteins. *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology*, **46**, 309-320.
- Hooker, J.E., Jaizme-Vega, M. and Atkinson, D. (1994) Biocontrol of plant pathogens using arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi. In Gianinazzi, S., Schüepp, H., (eds.) Impact of Arbuscular Mycorrhizas on Sustainable Agriculture and Natural Ecosystems. Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel, Switzerland, pp. 191-200.

Howard, R.J., Garland, J.A. and Seaman, W.L. (eds.) (1994) Diseases and Pests of Vegetable Crops in Canada: an Illustrated Compendium. Canadian Phytopathological Society and Entomological Society of Canada, Canada.

Iqbal, S.H., Qureshi, K.S. and Ahmad, J.S. (1977) Influence of vesicular arbuscular mycorrhiza on damping off caused by *Rhizoctonia solani* in *Brassica napus*. *Biologia*, 23, 197-208. Jabaji-Hare, S., Chamberland, H. and Charest, P.M. (1999) Cell wall alterations in hypocotyls of bean seedlings protected from Rhizoctonia stem canker by a binucleate Rhizoctonia isolate. *Mycological Research*, **103**, 1035-1043.

Jalali, B.L. and Jalali, I. (1991) Mycorrhiza in plant disease control. In Arora, D.K., Rai,
B., Mukerji, K.G. and Knudsen, G.R. (eds.), *Handbook of Applied Mycology Vol. 1: Soil and Plants*. Marcel Dekker inc., New York, USA, pp. 131-153.

- Kaye, J.W., Pfleger, F.L. and Stewart, E.L. (1983) Interaction of Glomus fasciculatum and Pythium ultimum on greenhouse-grown poinsettia. Canadian Journal of Botany, 62, 1575-1579.
- Klessig, D.F. and Malamy, J. (1994) The salicylic acid signal in plants. *Plant Molecular Biology*, 26, 1439-1458.
- Kormanik, P.P. and McGraw, A.C. (1982) Quantification of vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizae in plant roots. In Schenck, N.C. (ed.) *Methods and Principles of Mycorrhizal Research*. APS Press, St-Paul, Minnesota, pp. 37-45.

Kuc, J. (1982) Induced immunity to plant disease. *Bioscience*, 32, 854-860.

Kuc, J. (1995) Phytoalexins, stress metabolism, and disease resistance in plants. Annual Review of Phytopathology, 33, 275-297.

Lafitte, C., Barthe, J., Gansel, X., Dechamp-Guillaume, G., Faucher, C., Mazau, D. and Esquerré-Tugayé, M. (1993) Differential induction by endopolygalacturonase of β-1,3-glucanases in *Phaseolus vulgaris* isoline susceptible and resistant to *Colletotrichum lindemuthianum* race β. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions*, 6, 628-634.

- Lamb, C., Bell, J., Norman, P., Lawton, M., Dixon, R., Bowell, P. and Bailey, J. (1983)
 Early molecular events in the phytoalexin defense response. In Cifferi, O. and
 Dure, L. (eds.), *Structure and Function of Plant Genomes*. Plenum Press, New
 York, USA, pp. 313-327.
- Lambais, M.R. (2000) Regulation of plant defense-related genes in arbuscular mycorrhizae. In Podila, G.K. and Douds, D.D. (eds.), *Current Advances in Mycorrhizae Research*. APS Press, St-Paul, Minnesota, pp. 45-60.
- Lambais, M.R. and Mehdy, M.C. (1993) Suppression of endochitinase, β-1-3endoglucanase, and chalcone isomerase expression in bean vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal roots under different soil phosphate conditions. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions*, 6, 75-83.
- Lambais, M.R. and Mehdy, M.C. (1995) Differential expression of defense-related genes in arbuscular mycorrhiza. *Canadian Journal of Botany*, **73**, S 533-S 540.
- Lawton, M.A. and Lamb, C.J. (1987) Transcriptional activation of plant defense genes by fungal elicitor, wounding, and infection. *Molecular and Cellular Biology*, 7, 335-341.
- Lehmann, E. (1975) Nonparametrics-Statistical Methods Based on Ranks. Holden-Day, Oakland, California.
- Leyva, A., Liang, X., Pintor-Toro, J.A., Dixon, R.A. and Lamb, C.J. (1992) *cis*-element combinations determine phenylalanine ammonia-lyase gene tissue-specific expression patterns. *Plant Cell*, 4, 263-271.
Linderman, R.G. (1994) Role of VAM fungi in biocontrol. In Pfleger, F.L. and Linderman, R.G.(eds.) *Mycorrhizae and Plant Health*. APS Press, St. Paul, Minnesota, pp. 1-25.

- Liu, L., Kloepper, J.W. and Tusun, S. (1995a) Induction of systemic resistance in cucumber against bacterial angular leaf spot by plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria. *Phytopathology*, 85, 843-847.
- Liu, L., Kloepper, J.W. and Tuzun, S. (1995b) Induction of systemic resistance in cucumber against Fusarium wilt by plant growth-promoting rhizobacteria. *Phytopathology*, **85**, 695-698.
- Mahé, A., Grisvard, J., Desnos, T. and Dron, M. (1992) Bean-Colletotrichum lindemuthianum compatible interactions: Time course of plant defense responses depends on race. Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions, 5, 472-476.
- Mahé, A., Grisvard, J. and Dron, M. (1993) Two avirulent races of Colletotrichum
 lindemuthianum trigger different time courses of plant defense reactions in bean.
 Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions, 6, 423-428.
- Mauch, F., Mauch-Mani, B. and Boller, T. (1988) Antifungal hydrolase in pea tissue II.
 Inhibition of fungal growth by combinations of chitinase and β-1,3-glucanase.
 Plant Physiology, 88, 936-942.

Mehdy, M.C. and Lamb, C.J. (1987) Chalcone isomerase cDNA cloning and mRNA induction by fungal elicitor, wounding and infection. *The EMBO Journal*, **6**, 1527-1533.

Meyer, J.R. and Linderman, R.G. (1986) Selective influence on populations of rhizosphere or rhizoplane bacteria and actinomycetes by mycorrhizas formed by *Glomus fasciculatum. Soil Biology and Biochemistry*, **18**, 191-196.

- Mohr, U., Lange, J., Boller, T., Wiemken, A. and Vogelilange, R. (1998) Plant defence genes are induced in the pathogenic interaction between bean roots and *Fusarium solani*, but not in the symbiotic interaction with the arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus *Glomus mosseae*. New Phytologist, 138, 589-598.
- Morandi, D. (1996) Occurrence of phytoalexins and phenolic compounds in endomycorrhizal interactions, and their potential role in biological control. *Plant* & Soil, 185, 241-251.
- Nelsen, C.E. and Safir, G.R. (1982) Increased drought tolerance of mycorrhizal onion plants caused by improved phosphorus nutrition. *Planta*, **154**, 407-413.
- Niemira, B.A., Hammerschmidt, R. and Safir, G.R. (1996) Postharvest suppression of potato dry rot (*Fusarium Sambucinum*) in prenuclear minitubers by arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal inoculum. *American Potato Journal*, **73**, 509-515.
- Nuss, L., Mahé, A., A.J., C., Grisvard, J., Dron, M., Cervone, F. and De Lorenzo, G. (1996) Differntial accumulation of PGIP (polygalacturonase-inhibiting protein) mRNA in two-isogenic lines of *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. upon infection with *Colletotrichum lindemuthianum*. *Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology*, 48, 83-89.
- Perrin, R. (1990) Interactions between mycorrhizae and diseases caused by soil-borne fungi. *Soil Use and Management*, **6**, 189-196.

- Pieterse, C.M.J., van Wees, S.C.M., Hoffland, E. and van Pelt, J.A. (1996) Systemic resistance in *Arabidopsis* induced by biocontrol bacteria is independent of salycylic acid accumulation and pathogenesis-related gene expression. *Plant Cell*, 8, 1225-1227.
- Pozo, M.J., Azcon-Aguilar, C., Dumas-Gaudot, E. and Barea, J.M. (1999) Beta-1,3glucanase activities in tomato roots inoculated with arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi and/or *Phytophthora parasitica* and their possible involvement in bioprotection. *Plant Science*, 141, 149-157.
- Pozo, M.J., Dumas-Gaudot, E., Slezack, S., Cordier, C., Asselin, A., Gianinazzi, S., Gianinazzi-Pearson, V., Azconaguilar, C. and Barea, J.M. (1996) Induction of new chitinase isoforms in tomato roots during interactions with *Glomus mosseae* and/or *Phytophthora nicotianae* var *parasitica*. *Agronomie*, **16**, 689-697.
- Redecker, D., Kodner, R. and Graham, L.E. (2000) Glomalean fungi from the Ordovician. *Science*, **289**, 1920-1921.
- Reymond, P. and Farmer, E.E. (1998) Jasmonate and salicylate as global signals for defense gene expression . *Current Opinion in Plant Biology*, **1**, 404-411.
- Rosendahl, S. (1985) Interactions between the vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus *Glomus fasciculatum* and *Aphanomyces euteiches* root rot of peas. *Phytopathologische Zeitschrift*, **114**, 31-40.
- Ruiz-Lozano, J.M., Roussel, H., Gianinazzi, S. and Gianinazzi-Pearson, V. (1999)
 Defense genes are differentially induced by a mycorrhizal fungus and *Rhizobium* sp in wild-type and symbiosis-defective pea genotypes. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions*, 12, 976-984.

- Ryals, J., Uknes, S. and Ward, E. (1994) Systemic acquired resistance. *Plant Physiology*, 104, 1109-1112.
- Ryals, J.A., Neuenschwander, U.H., Willits, M.G., Molina, A., Steiner, H. and Hunt,M.D. (1996) Sytemic acquired resistance. *Plant Cell*, 8, 1809-1819.
- Ryder, T.B., Cramer, C.L., Bell, J.N., Robbins, M.P., Dixon, R.A. and Lamb, C.J. (1984) Elicitor rapidly induces chalcone synthase mRNA in *Phaseolus vulgaris* cells at the onset of the phytoalexin defense response. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, U.S.A*, 81, 5724-5728.
- Ryder, T.B., Hedrick, S.A., Bell, J.N., Liang, X., Clouse, S.D. and Lamb, C.J. (1987)
 Organization and differential activation of a gene family encoing the plant defense enzyme chalcone synthase in *Phaseolus vulgaris*. *Molecular and General Genetics*, 210, 219-233.
- Sambrook, J., Fritsch, E.F. and Maniatis, T. (1989) *Molecular cloning. a laboratory manual.* Cold Spring Harbor Laboratory Press, Cold Spring Harbor, NY.

SAS Institute Inc. (1998) The SAS System for Windows. SAS Institute Inc, Cary, NC.

- Secilia, J. and Bagyaraj, D.J. (1987) Bacteria and actinomycetes associated with pot cultures of vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizas. *Canadian Journal of Microbiology*, 33, 1069-1073.
- Shaul, O., David, R., Sinvani, G., Ginzberg, I., Ganon, D., Wininger, S., Bendor, B.,
 Badani, H., Ovadat, N. and Kapulnik, Y. (2000) Plant defense responses during arbuscular mycorrhiza symbiosis. In Podila, G.K. and Douds, D.D. (eds.), *Current Advances in Mycorrhizae Research*. APS Press, St-Paul, Minnesota, pp. 61-68.

- Shaul, O., Galili, S., Volpin, H., Ginzberg, I., Elad, Y., Chet, I. and Kapulnik, Y. (1999) Mycorrhiza-induced changes in disease severity and PR protein expression in tobacco leaves. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions*, **12**, 1000-1007.
- Showalter, A.M. (1993) Structure and function of plant cell wall proteins. *Plant Cell*, **5**, 9-23.
- Showalter, A.M., Bell, J.N., Cramer, C.L., Bailey, J.A., Varner, J.E. and Lamb, C. (1985)
 Accumulation of hydroxyproline-rich glycoprotein mRNAs in response to fungal elicitors and infection. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, U.S.A.*, 82, 6551-6555.
- Slezack, S., Dumas-Gaudot, E., Rosendahl, S., Kjoller, R., Paynot, M., Negrel, J. and Gianinazzi, S. (1999) Endoproteolytic activities in pea roots inoculated with the arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus *Glomus mosseae* and/or *Aphanomyces euteiches* in relation to bioprotection. *New Phytologist*, **142**, 517-529.
- Smith, D.A., VanEtten, H.D. and Bateman, D.F. (1975) Accumulation of phytoalexins in Phaseolus vulgaris hypocotyls following infection by Rhizoctonia solani. Physiological Plant Pathology, 5, 51-64.
- Smith, S.E. and Gianinazzi-Pearson, V. (1988) Physiological interactions between symbionts in vesicular-arbuscular mycorrhizal plants. Annual Review of Plant Physiology and Plant Molecular Biology, 39, 221-244.
- Sneh, B., Burpee, L. and Ogoshi, A. (1991) Identification of Rhizoctonia species. APS Press, St. Paul Minnesota.
- Spanu, P. and Bonfante-Fasolo, P. (1988) Cell-wall-bound peroxidase activity in roots of mycorrhizal Allium porrum. New Phytologist, **109**, 119-124.

- Spanu, P., Boller, T., Ludwig, A., Wiemken, A., Faccio, A. and Bonfante-Fasolo, P. (1989a) Chitinase in roots of mycorrhizal *Allium porrum*: regulation and localization. *Planta*, **177**, 447-455.
- Spanu, P., Bonfante-Fasolo, P. and Boller, T. (1989b) Chitinase activity and VAmycorrhizal development. *Agriculture Ecosystems and Environment*, **29**, 409-413.
- St-Arnaud, M., Hamel, C., Caron, M. and Fortin, J.A. (1994) Inhibition of Pythium ultimum in roots and growth substrate of mycorrhizal Tagetes patula colonized with Glomus intraradices. Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology, 16, 187-194.
- St-Arnaud, M., Hamel, C., Caron, M. and Fortin, J.A. (1995a) Endomycorhizes VA et sensibilité des plantes aux maladies: synthèse de la littérature et mécanismes d'interaction potentiels. In J. A. Fortin, C.C., Y. Piché (eds.) *La Symbiose Mycorhizienne Etat des Connaissances*. Orbis, Frelighsburg, Quebec, pp. 51-87.
- St-Arnaud, M., Hamel, C., Vimard, B., Caron, M. and Fortin, J.A. (1995b) Altered growth of *Fusarium oxysporum* f.sp. *chrysanthemi* in an *in vitro* dual culture system with the vesicular arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus *Glomus intraradices* growing on *Daucus carota* transformed roots. *Mycorrhiza*, 5, 431-438.
- St-Arnaud, M., Hamel, C., Vimard, B., Caron, M. and Fortin, J.A. (1996) Enhanced hyphal growth and spore production of the arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus *Glomus intraradices* in an in vitro system in the absence of host roots. *Mycological Research*, 100, 328-332.
- St-Arnaud, M., Hamel, C., Vimard, B., Caron, M. and Fortin, J.A. (1997) Inhibition of *Fusarium oxysporum* f.sp. *dianthi* in the non-VAM species *Dianthus caryophyllus*

by co-culture with *Tagetes patula* companion plants colonized by *Glomus* intraradices. Canadian Journal of Botany, **75**, 998-1005.

- Stewart, E.L. and Pfleger, F.L. (1977) Development of poinsettia as influenced by endomycorrhizae, fertilizer and rot root pathogens *Pythium ultimum* and *Rhizoctonia solani*.
- Sticher, L., Mauch-Mani, B. and Métraux, J.P. (1997) Systemic acquired resistance. Annual Review of Phytopathology, **35**, 235-270.
- Stockwell, V. and Hanchey, P. (1987) Lignification of lesion borders in *Rhizoctonia*infected bean hypocotyls. *Phytopathology*, **77**, 589-593.

STSC Inc. (1988) Statgraphics user's guide. STSC Inc., Rockville Md.

- Sutton, J.C. and Sheppard, B.R. (1976) Aggregation of sand-dune by endomycorrhizal fungi. *Canadian Journal of Botany*, **54**, 326-333.
- Templeton, M.D., Dixon, R.A., Lamb, C. and Lawton, M.A. (1990) Hydroxyproline-rich glycoprotein transcripts exhibit different patterns of accumulation in compatible and incompatible interactions between *Phaseolus vulgaris* and *Colletotrichum lindemuthianum*. *Plant Physiology*, **94**, 1265-1269.
- Toubart, P., Desiderio, A., Salvi, G., Cervone, F., Daroda, L. and De Lorenzo, G. (1992) Cloning and characteriziation of the gene encoding the endopolygalaturonaseinhibiting protein (PGIP) of *Phaseolus vulgaris* L. *The Plant Journal*, **2**, 367-373.
- Trappe, J.M. and Schenck, N.C. (1982) Taxonomy of fungi forming endomycorrhiza. In Schenck, N.C. (ed.) Methods and Principles of Mycological Research. APS Press, St-Paul, Minnesota, USA, pp. 1-9.

- Van Etten, H.D., Maxwell, D.P. and Bateman, D.F. (1967) Lesion maturation, fungal development, and distribution of endopolygalacturonase and cellulase in Rhizoctonia-infected bean hypocotyl tissues. *Phytopatholgy*, 57, 121-126.
- Van Loon, L.C. (1997) Induced resistance in plants and the role of pathogenesis-related proteins. *European Journal of Plant Pathology*, **103**, 753-765.
- Van Loon, L.C., Bakker, P. and Pieterse, C.M.J. (1998) Systemic resistance induced by rhizosphere bacteria. Annual Review of Phytopathology, 36, 453-483.

Van Loon, L.C. and Van Strien, E.A. (1999) The families of pathogenesis-related proteins, their activities, and comparative analysis of PR-1 type proteins.
 Physiological and Molecular Plant Pathology, 55, 85-97.

- van Peer, R., Niemann, G.J. and Schippers, B. (1991) Induced resistance and phytoalexin accumulation in biological control of Fusarium wilt of carnation by *Pseudomonas* sp. strain WCS417r. *Phytopathology*, **81**, 728-734.
- van Wees, S.C.M., Luijendijk, M., Smoorenburg, I., Van Loon, L.C. and Pieterse, M.J.
 (1999) Rhizobacteria-mediated induced systemic resistance (ISR) in *Arabidopsis* is not associated with a direct effect on expression of known defense-related genes but stimulates the expression of the jasmonate inducible gene *Atvsp* upon challenge. *Plant Molecular Biology*, **41**, 537-549.
- van Wees, S.C.M., Pieterse, C.M.J., Trijssenaar, A., Van't Westende, Y.A.M., Hartog, F. and Van Loon, L.C. (1997) Differential induction of systemic resistance in *Arabidopsis* by biocontrol bacteria. *Molecular Plant-Microbe Interactions*, 10, 716-724.

Vance, C.P., Kirk, T.K. and Sherwood, R.T. (1980) Lignification as a mechanism of disease resistance. *Annual Review of Phytopatholgy*, 18, 259-288.

Varner, J.E. and Lin, L. (1989) Plant cell wall architecture. Cell, 56, 231-239.

- Volpin, H., Elkind, Y., Okon, Y. and Kapulnik, Y. (1994) A vesicular arbuscular mycorrhizal fungus (*Glomus intraradix*) induces a defense response in alfalfa roots. *Plant Physiology*, **104**, 683-689.
- Volpin, H., Phillips, D.A., Okon, Y. and Kapulnik, Y. (1995) Suppression of an isoflavonoid phytoalexin defense response in mycorrhizal alfalfa roots. *Plant Physiology*, **108**, 1449-1454.
- Ward, E.R., Uknes, S.J., Williams, S.C., Dincher, S.S., Wiederhold, D.L., Alexander,
 D.C., Ahl-Goy, P., Métraux, J. and Ryals, J.A. (1991) Coordinate gene activity in response to agents that induce systemic acquired resistance. *Plant Cell*, 3, 1085-1094.
- Wasfy, E.H., Sheir, H.M., El-Meteny, A.Y. and Darweesh, M.M. (1984) Changes in peroxidase isoenzyme pattern of bean hypocotyl due to infection with *Rhizoctonia* solani. Transcripts of the British Mycological Society, 82, 154-156.
- Wick, R.L. and Moore, L.D. (1984) Histology of mycorrhizal and nonmycorrhizal Ilex crenata 'Helleri' challenged by Thielaviopsis basicola. Canadian Journal of Plant Pathology, 6, 146-150.
- Wycoff, K.L., Powell, P.A., Gonzales, R.A., Corbin, D.R., Lamb, C. and Dixon, R.A. (1995) Stress activation of bean hydroxyproline-rich glycoprotein promoter is superimposed on a pattern of tissue-specific developmental expression. *Plant Physiology*, **109**, 41-52.

- Wyss, P., Boller, T. and Wiemken, A. (1991) Phytoalexin response is elicited by a pathogen (*Rhizoctonia solani*) but not by a mycorrhizal fungus (*Glomus mosseae*) in soybean roots. *Experientia*, **47**, 395-399.
- Xue, L., Charest, P.M. and Jabaji-Hare, S.H. (1998) Systemic induction of peroxidases,
 1,3-β-glucanases, chitinases and resistance in bean plants by binucleate
 Rhizoctonia species. *Phytopathology*, 88, 359-365.
- Zambolim, L. and Schenck, N.C. (1983) Reduction of the effects of pathogenic, rootinfecting fungi on soybean by the mycorrhizal fungus, *Glomus mosseae*. *Phytopathology*, **73**, 1402-1405.